
City and County of Swansea

Notice of Meeting

You are invited to attend a Meeting of the

Scrutiny Performance Panel – Development & 
Regeneration

At: Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, Swansea

On: Wednesday, 17 July 2019

Time: 11.00 am

Convenor: Councillor Jeff Jones

Membership:
Councillors: P M Black, E W Fitzgerald, S J Gallagher, J A Hale, D W Helliwell, 
T J Hennegan, C A Holley, P R Hood-Williams, L James, M H Jones, P K Jones, 
S M Jones, W G Thomas and T M White

Agenda
Page No.

1  Apologies for Absence.

2  Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.
www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests

3  Prohibition of Whipped Votes and Declaration of Party Whips

4  Election of Panel Convener
 Bethan Hopkins – Scrutiny Officer

5  Terms of Reference 1

6  Minutes 2 - 8
To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 
record.

7  Wales Audit Office Report - Services to Rural Communities 9 - 64
 Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet Mmeber for Investment, 

Regeneration and Tourism
 Paul Relf – Economic Development and External Funding 

Manager

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests


8  End of Year Review 65 - 70

9  Work Plan 2018/19 71 - 73

Next Meeting: Wednesday, 31 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Huw Evans
Head of Democratic Services 
Wednesday, 10 July 2019
Contact: Scrutiny 636292



Terms of Reference

Development & Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel 

1. Name:  

Development & Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel

2. Why this topic is important?

 Links to Corporate Priorities – Creating a vibrant and viable city and 
economy / Infrastructure & Economy

 City Regeneration is a key strategic challenge
 Major strategic investment decisions being taken
 Agreement of Swansea Bay City Deal

3. What is the purpose of the panel?

The Panel will be responsible for ongoing monitoring of council 
performance in relation to development and regeneration, including the 
‘health’ of the city centre, wider economic development across 
Swansea, and initial discussion about progress on the Swansea Bay 
City Deal.

The Panel can request relevant performance reports and information 
that will help it to assess progress and implementation of agreed 
development and regeneration plans and relevant service improvement 
plans.

On behalf of the Panel, the convener will write to the relevant Cabinet 
Member raising issues of concern, comments and recommendations 
for response as appropriate following Panel meetings. This will 
facilitate the ongoing performance conversation with cabinet members.

4. Meetings:

The Panel will be expected to meet on a bi-monthly basis.

The Panel will report periodically on progress to the Scrutiny 
Programme Committee. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



City and County of Swansea

Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – 
Development & Regeneration

Committee Room 3A - Guildhall, Swansea 

Thursday, 11 April 2019 at 11.00 am

Present: Councillor J W Jones (Chair) Presided

Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s)
P M Black E W Fitzgerald J A Hale
D W Helliwell T J Hennegan C A Holley
L James M H Jones P K Jones
S M Jones T M White

Co-opted Member(s) Co-opted Member(s) Co-opted Member(s)

Other Attendees

Officer(s)
Phil Holmes Head of Economic Regeneration and Planning
Bethan Hopkins Scrutiny Officer
Huw Mowbray Property Development Manager
Ben Smith Chief Finance Officer / Section 151 Officer

Apologies for Absence
Councillor(s): S J Gallagher and P R Hood-Williams
Co-opted Member(s): 
Other Attendees: 

1 Disclosure of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.

 None

2 Notes

 Approved

3 Project Update Report

Phase 1
 Things are developing and Buckingham has been appointed
 Meet the buyer event was very successful

Page 2

Agenda Item 6



Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Development & Regeneration (11.04.2019)
Cont’d

 Want local supply chain involved
 Green infrastructure consultants looking at green walls
 Ongoing right to light issues
 Shortlisting for hotel currently
 Discussing digital options with various providers
 Looking at relocating the church hall
 Business case not yet signed off
 Preparation work has cost about £16m
 Pobl creating 33 properties with a mix of tenure
 Want to encourage living in the City Centre
 Looking at quality apprenticeships
 Early July should see the fixed price from Buckingham
 New posts in department interviewing imminently
 Hoping for business case sign off in next month
 Will procure locally where possible

Kingsway
 Council are making the site safe
 Discussions with new body to take over the contract 
 Commend Martin Nicholls and his team
 Discussions over where the compound could be
 Hoping to finish Kingsway at the end of November as scheduled, subject to 

discussions

Kingsway – Strategy and Digital
 Awaiting element of parking strategy
 Working with consultants on strategy

Kingsway – Digital Village
 Looking at designs to be submitted this year
 Somewhere for businesses to go
 Trying to keep students in Swansea, creating vibrant spaces
 Discussed connectivity between St Thomas and SA1/City Centre
 City Deal money makes projects viable ongoing

City Deal
 FPR7 to come to Cabinet with firm capital costs and Terms and Conditions
 Full income and expenditure report included

Strategic Sites
 All moving forward

Tawe Riverside Corridor
 Skyline ongoing 
 Looking at park and ride in Swansea Bay

4 Exclusion of the Public

Page 3



Minutes of the Scrutiny Performance Panel – Development & Regeneration (11.04.2019)
Cont’d

5 Business Case Update

 Panel discussed excluded items

6 Work Plan 2018/2019

 Next meeting will look at Wales Audit Report
 End of year review will be in next meeting

The meeting ended at 11.50 am

Chair

Page 4



 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 
 
 
To/ 
Councillor Rob Stewart 
Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Strategy 
  
 
 
BY EMAIL 

Please ask for: 
Gofynnwch am: 

Overview & Scrutiny 
  

Direct Line: 
Llinell Uniongyrochol: 

01792 636292 
  

e-Mail 
e-Bost: 

scrutiny@swansea.gov.uk 

  
  

Date 
Dyddiad: 

24th April 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor Stewart, 
 
We are grateful to officers for attending the meeting on 11th April 2019. The Panel 
received in depth updates and asked questions which the officers responded to.  
 
We had the usual monitoring update in relation to the Dashboard Report and received 
a more in depth look at the Business Case and its progress. 
 
We are pleased by the progress on these projects overall but do have some 
observations we would like to share with you. 
 
We heard how progress on Phase 1 (the Arena and associated area) are moving along 
well with Buckingham having been appointed. We heard how the ‘meet the buyer’ 
event was very successful. As a Council we are keen to have the local supply chain 
involved to boost local economies, benefit from local knowledge and encourage local 
procurement of services. We were pleased to hear that quality apprenticeships are 
planned as this fits in with the some of aims of the long-term well-being objectives of 
the Council. Following on from this, we are encouraged that green infrastructure 
consultants are considering ‘green walls’ in the City Centre. Again this links in with 
well-being goals  
 

Summary: This is a letter from the Development and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Performance Panel to the Cabinet Member for Economy and Strategy following the 
meeting of the Panel on 11th April 2019. We met with the Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration, the Development and Physical Regeneration Strategic Manager and 
the Section 151 and Chief Finance Officer. The meeting concerned the Dashboard 
Update and some discussions on the Business Case. 

 

 
;  

Page 5

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 
 
and the new natural environment corporate priority and will create a more desirable 
and eco-friendly place to live and work.  
 
Ongoing ‘right to light’ issues relating to the Arenas location were highlighted which 
we hope will be resolved shortly, along with the issue of relocating the church hall. 
Regarding the housing aspect, we heard how Pobl will be creating 33 properties with 
a mix of tenure to encourage people to live and work within the City Centre. 
 
We were told that shortlisting bidders for the hotel build is currently taking place and 
that digital options were being discussed with various providers to ensure Swansea is 
5G ready. The ‘resources’ of the department have been flagged as a risk recently so 
we are happy that new staff should be starting imminently to fill the gaps in resources 
on the team.  
 
Regarding the Kingsway, we were told how the site is being made safe by the Council 
since work by Dawnus ceased and there are discussions with a new body to take over 
the contract with all due diligence in place. We must commend the Director of Place 
and his teams for their hard work over this difficult period and we are told that the 
completion date of late November 2019, subject to discussions, is still the target. 
 
We were told that the designs for the Digital Village on the Kingsway are hoping to be 
submitted this year. This hi-tech digital space will create somewhere for businesses to 
grow into, and encourage students to stay in Swansea and build their businesses 
creating a vibrant work centre. The issue of linking St Thomas and the new SA1 
development was raised, as the residents there would benefit from improved 
connectivity. If you took a helicopter view of the ward you would see it is now cut off 
by road and river from the rest of Swansea. Officers said this is being considered as 
part of wider strategies and they will update us at future meetings. 
 
We had updates on the strategic sites (Castle Square, Felindre, Swansea Vale etc) 
and were told that all of these were moving forward and discussions with Skyline 
regarding the Kilvey Hill scheme are still ongoing.  
 
We heard how an FPR7 report will be coming to Cabinet in the summer with firm 
capital costs around the City Deal and a full income and expenditure report will be 
included. There will be scrutiny of any FPR7 report that coincides with the city deal. 
 
 
 

Page 6

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 
 
 
We are concerned that the Business Case has still not been signed off as monies 
cannot be released until this has been done. We look forward to hearing the Business 
Case has been signed off and the money released imminently. 
 
There is no requirement for you to respond to this letter but any thoughts you have are 
welcome. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Councillor Jeff Jones 
Convener, Development and Regeneration Performance Panel 
 cllr.jeff.jones@swansea.gov.uk

Page 7

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/
mailto:cllr.jeff.jones@swansea.gov.uk


 

 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY / TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 
 

SWANSEA COUNCIL / CYNGOR ABERTAWE 
GUILDHALL, SWANSEA, SA1 4PE / NEUADD Y DDINAS, ABERTAWE, SA1 4PE 

 

www.swansea.gov.uk / www.abertawe.gov.uk  
 

I dderbyn yr wybodaeth hon mewn fformat arall neu yn Gymraeg, cysylltwch â’r person uchod 
To receive this information in alternative format, or in Welsh please contact the above 

 
  

 

Page 8

http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/


1

Report of the Cabinet Member for Investment, Regeneration & Tourism

To the Development and Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel 
17th July 2019  

Local Government Services to Rural Communities 

Purpose: To brief/update the Development and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Performance Panel on Local Government Services to Rural 
Communities
 

Content: A briefing/update on the Swansea Rural Development 
Partnership (SRDP) LEADER programme which is aimed at the 
eight rural wards within Swansea. 

Councillors are 
being asked to:

Consider the information provided and to forward views to the 
Cabinet Member via a letter from the Panel Convener

Lead Councillor: Councillor Robert Francis-Davies, Cabinet Member for  
Investment, Regeneration & Tourism

Lead Officer & 
Report Author:

Paul Relf
Tel: 07887 055154 
E-mail: paul.relf@swansea.gov.uk

1. Background

1.1 In November 2018, the Wales Audit Office produced a report “Local 
Government services to rural communities”. Link to report 
 http://www.audit.wales/publication/local-government-services-rural-
communities 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

mailto:paul.relf@swansea.gov.uk
http://www.audit.wales/publication/local-government-services-rural-communities
http://www.audit.wales/publication/local-government-services-rural-communities


2

2. Briefing/Main body of report

It should be noted that Council services are universal and no distinction or separate 
provision is made between rural and urban areas. 

This paper sets out a response to the Wales Audit Office recommendations from 
a Swansea Rural Development Partnership (SRDP) LEADER perspective which 
is targeted at the eight Swansea rural wards. 

Appendix A provides a very short overview of the Swansea Rural Development 
Partnership (SRDP) LEADER programme 

Note: LEADER is a French acronym, standing for ‘Liaison Entre Actions de 
Développement de l'Économie Rurale’, meaning ‘Links between the rural economy 
and development actions’.  LEADER is included in the Welsh Government Rural 
Communities – Rural Development Programme 2014-2020.  

WAO Recommendation 1 

Socio economic change, poor infrastructure and shifts in provision of key services and 
facilities has resulted in the residualisation of communities in rural Wales. (See 
paragraphs 1.2 – 1.16) We recommend that Welsh Government support public bodies 
to deliver a more integrated approach to service delivery in rural areas by:-

WAO Recommendation 1.1  

Refreshing rural grant programmes to create sustainable financial structures, with 
multi-year allocations; 

Comment 

 Recommendations 1.1 and 1.2 are direct issues for Welsh Government to 
address itself.  However, comments from a Swansea RDP LEADER 
perspective are shown. 

Swansea RDP LEADER 1.1

 Swansea Council RDP Local Action Group (LAG) Officials are aware that the 
Welsh Government have been working on successor arrangements to replace 
EU funding in Wales in the absence of any policy/funding clarity from 
Westminster. Building on consultation held in 2018, work has been ongoing to 
establish a new regional policy team within WEFO, funded from the Welsh 
Government’s EU Transition Fund. A cross-government board has been 
established to guide this work across departments.

Page 10



3

 Swansea Council RDP LAG Officials will attend a Welsh Government event 
(initial 13th March date postponed) at which a discussion on LEADER future 
funding will take place.  These discussions may well start to formulate policy in 
line with the above bullet point in due course.  The Swansea RDP LEADER 
approach is perhaps more important than ever in the context of diminishing 
resources and helping to make the best use of local talent and ambition within 
our rural communities. 

 Within the Swansea RDP LEADER funding pot, new “application windows” are 
promoted as guided by the LAG with a current window in place between April 
and September 2019. 

WAO Recommendation 1.2
Helping people and businesses make the most of digital connectivity through targeted 
and more effective business and adult education support programmes.

Swansea RDP LEADER 1.2 

 The Swansea RDP LEADER LAG are keen to explore options for enabling 
digital connectivity for rural communities and enterprises where there is 
currently no provision of services. By supporting digital inclusion the LAG 
recognises that this not only helps lead to job creation through rural SMEs but 
will enable skills development within the community; 

 Therefore, the LEADER programme has allocated £40K to fund a 2 year-pilot 
programme entitled Swansea Rural Community Voice (SRCV).  The SRCV 
improves on community consultation and engagement within the eight rural 
wards. This will be achieved by establishing a Swansea Rural Community 
Voice project, run by Community Organising Teams using VocalEyes Digital 
Democracy tools and other methods to engage local people.  Although not 
directly aimed at adult education programmes the programme and innovative 
digital technology is seen as a key driver for future rural engagement. 

 Following the Welsh Government review of the Community and Town Council 
Sector in Wales, there are a number of the immediate actions that will be now 
be taken following the report’s recommendations which include conducting a 
survey to understand how more about how social and digital mediums are 
utilised to engage communities, and what scope there might be for support in 
this area.  The SRCV project is well placed to meet this intention.  

 Within the 2007 to 2013 Swansea RDP programme, LEADER funded the 
development of the Barham Centre, Gower, which is a community building for 
meetings and IT connection in the Gower. The project improved of a range of 
basic services including the development of a range of activities in answering 
the significant demand from young people themselves for activities in their local 
rural communities.   This includes the establishment on an IT club. The rural 
access grant scheme also funded 10 to 12 business within the rural areas. 

Page 11



4

WAO Recommendation 2 

The role of Public Service Boards is evolving but there are opportunities to articulate a 
clearer and more ambitious shared vision for rural Wales (see paragraphs 2.2 to 2.9 
and 2.28 to 2.31). We recommend that PSB public services partners respond more 
effectively to the challenges faced by rural communities by:

WAO Recommendation 2.1 

Assessing the strengths and weaknesses of their different rural communities using the 
Welsh Governments Rural Proofing Tool and identify and agree the local and strategic 
actions needed to support community sustainability; 

Swansea RDP LEADER 2.1  

 The Swansea RDP Local Development Strategy (LDS) sits within a wider policy 
and strategy framework in South West Wales at local and regional levels. The 
most relevant local, national and regional and local strategies that could be 
impacted by the LDS are contained within the LDS and in each case there is a 
brief summary of the scope of the strategy or plan and the potential links to the 
LDS.

 Rural Proofing is a part of good policymaking. Rural areas face particular 
challenges. Many of these characteristics such as geographic isolation, an 
ageing population and an economy based on micro enterprises and SMEs are 
found in other parts of Wales. In rural areas they may be more severe or 
combine to form a set of circumstances that may hinder the effective 
implementation of policy. This screening tool has been developed to help rural 
proofing of policy. The purpose of rural proofing is to assess the impact that 
policy may have on rural areas, identify barriers to effective implementation in 
rural areas and help to formulate rural appropriate solutions.  Swansea RDP 
LEADER is not a direct policy maker, although it can influence and lobby.   The 
tool will be considered by Swansea RDP Officials as regards future applications 
to the scheme.  

WAO Recommendation 2.2 

Ensuring the Local Well-Being Plan sets out a more optimistic and ambitious vision for 
‘place’ with joint priorities co-produced by partners and with citizens to address agreed 
challenges.

Swansea RDP LEADER 2.2

 Swansea's Local Well-being Plan “Working Together to Build a Better Future” is 
designed to improve well-being in the local area. In Swansea, we believe in the 
rights of every person. Through this plan, the Council vision is to work together 
to make Swansea a place which is prosperous, where our natural environment 

Page 12

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp


5

is appreciated and maintained and where every person can have the best start 
in life, get a good job, live well, age well and have every opportunity to be 
healthy, happy, safe and the best they can be. 

 For rural wards, Swansea RDP LEADER is an essential component in 
providing capacity to match these aspirations as listed above. 

WAO Recommendation R3 

To help sustain rural communities, public services need to think differently in the future 
(see paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12). We recommend councils provide a more effective 
response to the challenges faced by rural communities by:

WAO Recommendation R3.1 

Ensuring service commissioners have cost data and qualitative information on the full 
range of service options available; 

Swansea RDP LEADER 3.1

 The LDS provides a detailed picture of each of the 8 rural wards across a range 
of topics such as qualifications; welsh language skills; employment data; 
occupational breakdown; travel to work; health; etc.  This information provides 
a baseline definition of the Swansea rural area and population covered by the 
LEADER programme.  To achieve this Swansea RDP LEADER makes use of 
existing data and qualitative information provided via a number of Council 
sources e.g. Swansea Ward Profiles. 

WAO Recommendation R3.2 

Using citizens’ views on the availability, affordability, accessibility, adequacy and 
acceptability

Swansea RDP LEADER 3.2

 The Swansea RDP LAG has commissioned a number of studies in which 
citizens views were sought as part of each project within the overall 
programme.  NB: These projects and citizen contact did not ask what citizens 
think of Council Services. These Swansea RDP LEADER studies are as below 
and short description is provided against each project:- 

 Ref 01: Gower Sunday Explorer 2016.  
The provision of a revised and improved bus service between Swansea and 
Gower on Sundays in mid and high season, building on the success of 
similar services over the past five years. To develop the visitor travel market 
and visitor economy and improve accessibility for local residents.

Page 13

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/wardprofiles


6

 Ref 03: Swansea Rural Community Voice. 
To improve on community consultation and engagement of the eight 
geographic rural communities. This will be achieved by establishing a 
Swansea Rural Community Voice project, run by Community Organising 
Teams using VocalEyes Digital Democracy tools and other methods to 
engage local people.

 
 Ref 04: Gower Sunday Explorer 2017 – 2019.  

The continued provision of a revised and improved bus service between 
Swansea and Gower on Sundays in mid and high season. 

 Ref 07: Rural Swansea Resource / Visitor Centre Feasibility Study.  
To carry out an independent and comprehensive assessment to identify and 
quantify the needs of businesses / enterprises, residents of, and visitors to 
rural Swansea, in relation to the development and use of dedicated facilities 
and services with the aim of supporting the rural economy, with special 
regard to the tourism sector.

 Ref 24: Feasibility Study for Port Eynon&Horton Foreshore and Settlements. 
To undertake a feasibility study of the amenities and localised facilities at one 
of our key destination sites ie: Port Eynon.

 Ref 05: Digital Marketing for Sustainable Transport in Rural Swansea. 
By creating a first class interactive information service on more sustainable 
means of travel to and around rural Swansea, the project aims to attract 
more visitors and more travel by local residents by means other than the 
private car.  A website “Swansea Bay Without a Car” is now live.  

 Ref 13: Sustainable Transport Network for Rural Swansea Feasibility Study. 
A study aimed at producing a sustainable integrated transport strategy, 
designed to improve access and connectivity for rural Swansea. The study 
would identify gaps in the current provision and suggest where the network 
can be developed and enhanced. 

 Ref 16: Feasibility Study to investigate viability of Community Carbon Offset. 
To develop a community led, not for profit social enterprise offering carbon 
offsetting through planting of community grown, local provenance trees.  The 
feasibility study will be the first stage in developing this innovative project into 
a robust, self-sustaining business model that maximises social and 
biodiversity values.   

 Ref 27: Market at the Mill.  
To pilot outdoor evening produce markets at Parkmill with associated 
educational activity.

The RDP webpage includes a copy of all completed reports 
(PDF version) and other projects.

Page 14

http://swanseabaywithoutacar.co.uk/
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp


7

 The major strand of citizen engagement within the Swansea RDP LEADER 
programme is the LEADER ref 03: SRCV project as described in Swansea 
LEADER 1.2.  The project does allow for citizens to raise and rank issues of 
local concern.  It is anticipated that the SRCV project will provide a new and 
truly innovative way of citizen engagement. This will add value to the tried and 
tested models of normal citizen engagement.  

WAO Recommendation R4 

To help sustain rural communities, public services need to act differently in the future 
(see paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12). We recommend councils do more to develop community 
resilience and self-help by:

WAO Recommendation R4.1 

Working with relevant bodies such as the Wales Co-operative Centre to support social 
enterprise and more collaborative business models;

Swansea RDP LEADER 4.1

 A representative from the Wales Co-operative Centre is a Swansea RDP LAG 
member.
  

 The Wales Co-operative Centre were also involved a Swansea RDP LEADER 
Roadshow held on the 27th March. 

 Via the above, much valued assistance is provided to support and encourage 
the growth of Social Businesses in Swansea. Together with colleagues the 
representative provides a National coverage of support across Wales, able to 
share ideas, knowledge and expertise for the benefit of social business 
development with particular emphasis in the growth of businesses and social 
improvement of the rural wards of Swansea.

WAO Recommendation 4.2 

Providing tailored community outreach for those who face multiple barriers to 
accessing public services and work;

Swansea RDP LEADER 4.2

 The Swansea RDP LDS includes 4 Cross-Cutting Themes of
 Equal opportunities and gender mainstreaming;
 Sustainable development;
 Tacking poverty and social exclusion; and 
 Welsh language 

 All project applications have to demonstrate how they adhere to these themes.  
In doing so there are a number of examples of how the projects  address issues 

Page 15



8

of barriers to accessing services e.g. SRCV includes wider engagement aimed 
at involving more people; not always the usual suspects as well as harder to 
reach / less commonly engaged groups, especially young people, via active 
outreach.

 Swansea RDP LEADER is also aware that Workways+, also run from the 
Economic Development and External Funding Team, offers the following: 

o Workways+ offers employment support to unemployed and economically 
inactive people living in all areas outside of Communities first in 
Swansea. Mentors and Employment liaison officers have been assigned 
to geographical areas to set up community outreach at venues that are 
accessible to all citizens across the county. 

o Community outreach sessions are held weekly at the libraries and 
community centre in Pontarddulais, Pennard, Gowerton, Gorseinon and 
the Clydach Valley. 

o The sessions are held alongside Job clubs and free basic IT skills 
classes. Workways+ mentors and ELOs also attend events such as 
Local produce markets and the Gower show to engage with and support 
rural citizens who have barriers to accessing employment.

o Workways+ provides 1-2-1 mentoring support to overcome barriers to 
employment. The support available includes an individual action plan to 
identify the need for training, confidence building, volunteering 
placements,

o paid work opportunities, job search, CVs and employment opportunities. 
Financial assistance is available for training courses to upskill and 
transport for people who have difficulty accessing public transport.

WAO Recommendation 4.3

Enhancing and recognising the role of town and community councils by capitalising on 
their local knowledge and supporting them to do more;

Swansea RDP LEADER 4.3

 The opportunity to pilot new products, services or ways of doing things provided 
by Swansea RDP LEADER through the LDS has great potential to act as a 
catalyst across Swansea and the wider South West region.

 There is an increasing appetite in private, third and community sectors to ‘make 
a difference’, coupled with an imperative to find new and more cost-effective 
ways of providing services. There is demand from community / town councils 
and third sector groups to work on adoption of local services and also thematic 
demands around, for example renewable energy options. It is very apparent 
that local solutions depend on appropriate people, places and resources 
coming together at the right time to enable solutions to be developed.  This has 
to be a bottom-up approach rather than top-down.  Listening as opposed to 
looking is the way forward.  

Page 16



9

 Two Community Councillors and one Council Ward member are also Swansea 
RDP LAG members.  

 The Council Champion for Rural Economy is also a Swansea RDP LAG 
member.  All cascade programme information to their counterparts. 

 A dedicated Swansea RDP LEADER presentation has been delivered to the 
One Voice Wales Swansea Area Committee.  Once Voice Wales is the voice of 
town and community councils in Wales. 

 The SRCV project previously referred to can capture local knowledge and 
enables citizens to act upon their views at a local level

WAO Recommendation 4.4

Encouraging a more integrated approach to service delivery in rural areas by 
establishing pan-public service community hubs, networks of expertise, and clusters of 
advice and prevention services;

Swansea RDP LEADER 4.4

 The Swansea RDP LAG Economy & Community sub-group have approved an 
initial expression of interest from Pennard Community Council for a Feasibility 
Study into a Community Hub / Pavilion on Pennard Playing Field.  A Full 
Application is awaited and will be considered by the sub-group and a 
recommendation then made to the Swansea RDP LAG to approve or not. If 
approved and upon completion of the study, a report will be posted to the 
Swansea RDP website as well as the Welsh Government Wales Rural Network 
website for all to view.   This is the case with all approved projects. 

 Public sector mainstreaming could be more difficult to achieve in view of 
shrinking resources. However, new approaches to service delivery that could 
involve community adoption of basic services, as well as testing approaches for 
local ‘hubs’ as outlined above could result in entirely new ways of working that 
result in public sector cost savings and more active buy-in from local 
communities to delivering the services they require at local level. Opportunities 
for mainstreaming and dissemination are actively explored and discussed 
throughout the Swansea RDP LEADER programme.

 Swansea RDP LEADER is also aware that the Council is currently piloting a 
community hub in the Clydach Valley.  It is based at Clydach Library and offers 
direct skype links to Civic centre based services.  Third parties are using the 
hub as a touch down and an agile working area has been created for use by 
community based staff. The council has worked closely with all stakeholders 
including, health, police, employability services, local churches and the 
community council to share ‘what’s going on’. A volunteering group has been 

Page 17

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/walesruralnetwork/
https://businesswales.gov.wales/walesruralnetwork/


10

created to help those citizens unfamiliar with more IT based services and to 
sign post them to local and council services. There are plans to develop the 
pilot into five main county wide hubs. 

WAO Recommendation 4.5

Enabling local action by supporting community asset transfer identifying which assets 
are suitable to transfer, and having the right systems in place to make things happen; 

Swansea RDP LEADER 4.5

 Meetings have been held with Council staff who manage the Community Asset 
Transfer (CAT) process to discuss potential overlap and possible opportunities 
for merging any rural activity. 

 CAT is included in discussions with potential applicants if the need arises. 
Swansea RDP LEADER is aware that of the Community Action Transformation 
Fund approved projects, only one is in a rural ward i.e. Round 5 in October 
2016 to Llanrhidian Higher Community Council and Graig-Y-Coed Pitches in 
Penclawdd with £23,800 awarded.  

 Within the previous 2007 to 2013 RDP round, Village and Small Town Renewal 
and Development in rural Swansea was a component part of the overall 
programme.  There were numerous refurbishment projects in line with the 
availability of approx. £5M Capital funds to allocate within Swansea. 

WAO Recommendation 4.6

Improving community-based leadership by developing networks of interest, training 
and coaching, and encouraging volunteering.

Swansea LEADER 4.6

 The Swansea RDP LEADER funded project “Gower Community Tourism 
Ambassador Pilot and Feasibility Study” was aimed at coordinating, delivering 
and managing a pilot community tourism ambassador scheme.  This was 
achieved by training and coaching volunteers over an intensive two-day period 
and subsequent adoption of the produced tool kit. In total 55 people took part 
representing: Local residents, Community Councils, Local tourism businesses, 
Local community organisations, Voluntary organisations & charities, Public 
sector organisations.

 The SRCV project is establishing Community Organisers who can then provide 
a source of encouragement and advice for volunteers and community 
engagement in rural areas.  This leads to ideas coming from residents in an 
ongoing conversation. 

Page 18



11

 The previous round of EU funding via the 2017 – 2013 Swansea RDP provided 
a number of very successful projects, including the Gower Crafts and Artisans 
network as well as the Crefftau y Bont Craft shop based in Canolfan y Bont in 
Pontarddulais.  The Rural Swansea Action Group includes some 300 producers 
and groups active in the rural wards

3. Conclusions/Key Points Summary

3.1 The Swansea Rural Development Partnership (SRDP) LEADER programme 
aims to bring far reaching and sustainable benefits to Swansea’s rural wards.  
The vision is to create vibrant and distinct communities that are well connected 
and easily accessible and which provide high quality products, services and 
facilities within a resilient local economy supported by a strong, year-round 
tourism industry. The LEADER programme provides an invaluable link between 
the rural economy in Swansea and development actions to meet these 
objectives.  

4. Legal implications – None 

5. Finance (if required) – None 
 

Glossary of terms: None 

Background papers: None 

Appendices:  

APPENDIX A:- What is the Swansea Rural Development Partnership (SRDP)  
LEADER programme?

LEADER is a French acronym, standing for ‘Liaison Entre Actions de Développement 
de l'Économie Rurale’, meaning ‘Links between the rural economy and development 
actions’.  LEADER is included in the Welsh Government Rural Communities – Rural 
Development Programme 2014-2020.  

LEADER is a form of community-led local development. Through a process of 
stakeholder engagement, building the capacity of target groups and co-operation, the 
problems faced and opportunities available to an area are recognised and potential 
solutions are piloted.    

There are 8 eligible rural wards in Swansea which are:- 
 Bishopston; 
 Fairwood; 
 Gower; 

Page 19



12

 Llangyfelach; 
 Mawr; 
 Penclawdd; 
 Pennard; 
 Pontarddulais

The LEADER approach is associated with local empowerment through a Local 
Development Strategy resource allocation. The main tool for the application of this 
approach to area development and involving local representatives in decision-making 
is the Swansea RDP LEADER Local Action Group (LAG). 

The Local Action Group designs and implements a Local Development Strategy for 
their area, developing a partnership approach to effect social and economic 
development.  The Local Action Group has set up 3 sub-groups to assist them in 
managing the programme and the groups mirror the Rural Strategic Aims and 
Objectives. These are:-

Strategic Aim 1: Develop rural transport and infrastructure
Objective 1:  Support an integrated and diverse transport network
Objective 2:  Support and develop accessible, fit for purpose services

Strategic Aim 2: Enhance tourism offer
Objective 3:  Enhance quality of local offer and improve marketing
Objective 4: Encourage development of year round sustainable tourism offer 

across the rural area (especially food, crafts and recreation)  

Strategic Aim 3: Deliver a strong economy and vibrant communities
Objective 5: Support development of a self-sufficient rural economy
Objective 6: Support and develop cohesive, resilient and engaged 

communities
Objective 7: Enable digital connectivity

There are a number of cross cutting themes which are intended to add value, raise 
awareness and understanding while ensuring maximum participation and mitigating 
adverse impacts.  This should help operations move beyond compliance and develop 
systems which support best practice.  These cross cutting themes are:- 

 Equal opportunities and gender mainstreaming
 Sustainable development
 Tackling poverty and social inclusion
 Conserving our natural environment, cultural and built heritage

Swansea RDP LEADER Implementation is the main funding pot for specific and 
focussed initiatives to be developed and delivered that will meet the objectives of the 
LDS.  The Swansea RDP LEADER Fund is a Revenue only scheme.  There is an 
overall funding of £440K until December 2021 for innovative projects that meet the 
LEADER aims and objectives.  As at June 2019, £202K (46%) of these funds have 
been allocated to projects. The RDP webpage provides more information.

The previous RDP for Wales 2007-2013 had the availability of approx. £5M Capital 
funds to allocate within Swansea. 

Page 20

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/rdp


BANK

CLOSED

POST OFFICE

POST
OFFICE

££

Local Government Services to 
Rural Communities

November 2018

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Page 21



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 2

I have prepared and published this report in accordance with the  
Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 

The Wales Audit Office study team was managed by Nick Selwyn and comprised Steve Frank, 
Gareth Jones, Euros Lake, Sara Leahy, Martin Gibson, Philippa Dixon and Matt Brushett under 

the direction of Jane Holownia

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines 
and certifies the accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, 
including NHS bodies. He also has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness with which those organisations have used, and may improve the use of, 
their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts local government 
value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit 
Office, which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor 
General. 

© Auditor General for Wales 2018

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. If 
you re-use it, your re-use must be accurate and must not be in a misleading context. The material 
must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales copyright and you must give the title of this 
publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

For further information, or if you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/
or language, please contact us by telephone on 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales. We 
welcome telephone calls in Welsh and English. You can also write to us in either Welsh or English 
and we will respond in the language you have used. Corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay.

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.

Page 22



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 3
Page 23



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 4

Contents
 Councils are not yet finding sustainable ways to help rural  

communities overcome the challenges they face and need to  
think and act differently 6

 Our findings 9

 Recommendations 10

 Part 1 – Socio economic change, poor infrastructure and shifts  
in how key services and facilities are provided has resulted in the 
residualisation of communities in rural Wales 12

Demographic change and challenges in encouraging  
employment has impacted on the sustainability of communities 
and services 12

Poor infrastructure and changes in how key services and  
facilities are delivered has adversely affected rural communities 14

Citizens generally feel that key council services are not as  
available, affordable, accessible, adequate and acceptable as  
they used to be 17

Community Asset Transfers have increasingly been used by  
councils to save money but have not always resulted in  
sustainable solutions 20

Page 24



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 5

 Part 2 – Councils and their partners are not always responding  
effectively to the challenges faced by rural communities 22

The role of Public Service Boards is evolving but there are  
opportunities to articulate a clearer and more ambitious shared  
vision for rural Wales 22

Analysis of data to understand problems and agree appropriate  
solutions is poor 24

Councils are not always tapping into their communities to help  
them prioritise and deliver services 25

Whilst partnership working and collaboration is long established  
and can be effective, integration of services is limited 27

Managing and preventing demand is acknowledged as  
essential in maintaining services but progress is mixed 28

Councils and their partners need to improve their understanding  
of the impact their decisions have on people from different c 
ommunities 30

 Part 3 – To help sustain rural communities, councils and their  
partners need to think and act differently in the future  31

 Appendices 35

Appendix 1 – Study Methodology 35

Appendix 2 – Defining ‘Rural’ Wales 36

Appendix 3 – Good practice case studies 37

Appendix 4 – Welsh Government Rural Proofing Tool questions 42

Page 25



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 6

1 Delivering fair and equitable public services and maintaining specialist 
provision in rural areas is challenging due to geography, distance, cost 
and scalability. A tradition of strong community resilience and a culture of 
self-reliance in rural areas, can often mask significant problems. The loss 
of the ‘cornerstones’ of village life such as banks, schools, and post offices 
and poor access to key infrastructure like public transport and superfast 
broadband can compound the challenge of sustaining public services in 
rural communities. 

Councils are not yet finding sustainable ways 
to help rural communities overcome the 
challenges they face and need to think and act 
differently

Page 26



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 7

11

1517
16

14

12

10

18

7

20

21

22

6

5 

3 
4

13

19

9
2

18

PRIMARILY RURAL

FULLY URBAN

1  Carmarthenshire
2  Ceredigion
3  Conwy
4  Denbighshire
5  Gwynedd
6  Isle of Anglesey
7  Monmouthshire
8  Pembrokeshire
9  Powys

10  Blaenau Gwent
11 Bridgend
12  Caerphilly
13  Flintshire 
14  Merthyr Tydfil
15  Neath Port Talbot
16  Rhondda Cynon Taf
17  Swansea
18  Torfaen
19  Wrexham
20  Vale of Glamorgan

21  Cardiff
22  Newport

SEMI-RURAL/URBAN

What we mean by ‘Rural Wales’:
There is no single agreed definition of a rural Wales. The classification used by Welsh 
Government defines roughly 20% of the overall Welsh population as living in rural areas. For 
the purpose of this study, and in line with the Welsh Local Government Association’s rural policy 
forum, we classify nine authorities as rural, 11 authorities as semi-rural and two authorities as 
non-rural and urban.

Page 27



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 8

2 Since 2010-11, councils have faced significant financial constraints. Net 
revenues from Welsh Government grants, business rates and collected 
council tax fell by 7.5% between 2009-10 and 2016-17 (excluding fees 
and charges), which is the equivalent to £529 million1. The Welsh Local 
Government Association estimates that austerity has resulted in councils 
cutting spending by over £1 billion in real terms and 25,000 jobs being lost 
in councils since 2010-112. The impact of austerity on provision of services 
is resulting in councils facing tough choices and requires them to identify 
alternative service models and new ways of working to maintain and 
protect services.

3 Under its Programme for Government 2016-2021, the Welsh Government 
has set an outcome of ‘Successful, Sustainable Rural Communities’. 
Under this outcome, there are specific targets and actions for public 
bodies, including local government3. This review assesses how local 
government directly provides services to rural communities, and how 
councils work with others, and considers whether they:

 a have clear priorities for services to rural communities based on an 
understanding of needs and demands;

 b are making best use of resources by, for example, developing new joint 
models of service delivery such as gateway services or joint service 
and community hubs;

 c are making best use of facilities, co-location and/or transfer and use of 
assets;

 d are supporting citizens to become more resilient and self-reliant; and

 e are taking a longer-term place based view on how best to deliver 
services.

4 Our review methods are set out in Appendix 1. Based on the findings of 
this audit, the Auditor General has concluded that councils are not yet 
finding sustainable ways to help rural communities overcome the 
challenges they face and need to think and act differently.

1 www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/11/Austerity-and-Local-Government.pdf 
2 www.wlga.wales/local-government-settlement-the-war-of-attrition-continues-says-wlga 
3 Priority 4 relates to public bodies supporting community-led projects, promote skills development, job 

creation, entrepreneurship, community energy, rural transport and broadband access. Priority five focuses on 
safeguarding social housing in rural communities by ending ‘Right to Buy’ and continuing to support the work of 
Rural Housing Enablers.

Page 28

https://gov.wales/docs/strategies/160920-taking-wales-forward-en.pdf
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/11/Austerity-and-Local-Government.pdf
http://www.wlga.wales/local-government-settlement-the-war-of-attrition-continues-says-wlga


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 9

5 For many people in rural Wales, it is a great place to live and work. 
However, reductions in public spending coupled with socio-economic 
change, poor infrastructure and ongoing public service delivery challenges 
are resulting in services being less accessible and effective compared to 
urban areas. 

6 Part 1 of this report examines the shifting face of rural Wales, looking at 
demographic challenges in providing services to dispersed communities 
in rural areas. The loss of the cornerstones of village life – banks and post 
offices for example – and poor infrastructure have adversely affected rural 
communities. 

7 Part 2 examines how public bodies are currently responding to the 
challenge of planning and delivering services in rural Wales. We find 
that public bodies who cover both rural and urban areas too often create 
and deliver services shaped by their urban context. Whilst there are 
significant variations in the local environment, policy choices and councils’ 
operational structures, there is also a steady drift towards standardisation 
and centralisation based on a perception of being able to manage costs 
and increase efficiency. Public bodies continue to deliver a ‘one size fits all 
approach’ which is creating and reinforcing ‘rural inequality’4.

8 Finally, Part 3 concludes that with fewer resources, rising demand and 
complex delivery challenges, public bodies need to work together in 
deciding how they set priorities and deliver frontline services if they are to 
meet the long-term needs of citizens. From our review we have identified 
there are opportunities to do things differently and to provide solutions 
that can better meet the future needs of rural Wales. Key to addressing 
this challenge is to make a reality of co-ordinated and integrated services 
to maximise both the use of resources and the quality of service delivery. 
This requires liaison and co-operation between public, private and 
voluntary sector providers, including the development of multi-purpose, 
cross-sector hubs. Public bodies also need to do more to equip citizens 
and communities to become more resilient and self-reliant as public 
finances continue to reduce. 

Our findings

4 By rural inequality, we mean the real and perceived imbalance and difference in the quality, accessibility, 
and affordability of service provision in rural areas compared to urban ones. Not only can a ‘one size fits 
all’ approach’ stifle innovation, it can work against current policy shifts towards personalisation of services, 
particularly in social care. An over generalised view of service demand and people’s needs can hinder the 
targeting of increasingly scarce resources and impede prevention activity. It can restrict people’s personal 
choices. A ‘one size fits all’ approach is not a solution to policy variance and inconsistencies in services. 

Page 29



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 10

9 We have made recommendations for improvement and these are set out 
below.

Recommendations

Recommendations

R1 Socio economic change, poor infrastructure and shifts in provision of key services 
and facilities has resulted in the residualisation of communities in rural Wales. (See 
paragraphs 1.2 – 1.16) We recommend that Welsh Government support public 
bodies to deliver a more integrated approach to service delivery in rural areas 
by:
• refreshing rural grant programmes to create sustainable financial structures, 

with multi-year allocations; and
• helping people and businesses make the most of digital connectivity 

through targeted and more effective business and adult education support 
programmes.

R2    The role of Public Service Boards is evolving but there are opportunities to articulate 
a clearer and more ambitious shared vision for rural Wales (see paragraphs 2.2 to 2.9 
and 2.28 to 2.31). We recommend that PSB public services partners respond more 
effectively to the challenges faced by rural communities by:
• assessing the strengths and weaknesses of their different rural communities 

using the Welsh Governments Rural Proofing Tool and identify and agree the 
local and strategic actions needed to support community sustainability; and

• ensuring the Local Well-Being Plan sets out a more optimistic and ambitious 
vision for ‘place’ with joint priorities co-produced by partners and with citizens 
to address agreed challenges.

R3    To help sustain rural communities, public services need to think differently in the future 
(see paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12). We recommend councils provide a more effective 
response to the challenges faced by rural communities by:
• ensuring service commissioners have cost data and qualitative information on 

the full range of service options available; and
• using citizens’ views on the availability, affordability, accessibility, adequacy 

and acceptability of council services to shape the delivery and integration of 
services.

Page 30



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 11

Recommendations

R4 To help sustain rural communities, public services need to act differently in the 
future (see paragraphs 3.1 to 3.12). We recommend councils do more to develop 
community resilience and self-help by:
• working with relevant bodies such as the Wales Co-operative Centre to 

support social enterprise and more collaborative business models;
• providing tailored community outreach for those who face multiple barriers to 

accessing public services and work;
• enhancing and recognising the role of town and community councils by 

capitalising on their local knowledge and supporting them to do more;
• encouraging a more integrated approach to service delivery in rural areas by 

establishing pan-public service community hubs, networks of expertise, and 
clusters of advice and prevention services;

• enabling local action by supporting community asset transfer identifying 
which assets are suitable to transfer, and having the right systems in place to 
make things happen; and

• improving community-based leadership by developing networks of interest, 
training and coaching, and encouraging volunteering.

Page 31



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 12

Part 1 – Socio economic change, poor 
infrastructure and shifts in how key services 
and facilities are provided has resulted in the 
residualisation of communities in rural Wales

1.1 Public services are key to helping and protecting citizens, and traditionally 
focus on solving problems. However, there are a host of challenges that 
face the Welsh public sector in the 21st century. In this part of the report, 
we consider the implications of the shifting face of rural Wales looking 
at the impact of population, employment and housing changes in the 
recent past. We also consider the infrastructure challenge of providing 
public and other services to dispersed communities in rural Wales – the 
quality of roads, access to broadband and the provision of key services 
such as banks and post offices. We also consider citizens views on local 
public service provision and recent changes. These challenges are often 
interconnected, defining the operating environment in which public bodies 
deliver services.

Demographic change and challenges in encouraging 
employment has impacted on the sustainability of 
communities and services
Rural communities are ageing more quickly and the rate of new 
household formation slowing than other parts of Wales

1.2 Demographic changes are increasing pressure on already stretched 
public services such as social care as demand for services increase. 
Depopulation and an ageing society in remoter rural areas is also resulting 
in local services becoming less viable. The demography of rural Wales 
and, in particular, the growing number of older people, has implications 
for the future of public service provision – for example increasing demand 
on social care and housing services. Between 2012 and 2016 all nine 
primarily rural councils have seen a reduction in the number of people 
aged under 18 and an increase in the number of people aged over 65. 
Whilst all rural areas will see the number of households in their area 
increase by 2035, eight of the nine primarily rural authorities will see new 
household formation at levels lower than the Welsh average. Daffodil5  
forecasts that this trend will continue for the next 20 years.

5 Daffodil is a web-based system developed by the Institute of Public Care for the Welsh Government, which pulls 
together in one place the information needed to plan care, support and housing services in the future.

Page 32



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 13

The lack of well paid jobs and difficulties creating and maintaining 
employment has encouraged younger people to move away

1.3 Our analysis highlights that, in some aspects, the economy of rural Wales 
is performing well. The employment rate in primarily rural authorities has 
seen a greater increase since 2007-08 than other parts of Wales, and all 
rural areas (with the exception of Ceredigion) at levels above the Welsh 
average. Overall, fewer people in rural Wales are economically inactive, 
unemployed or in receipt of welfare benefits than other parts of the 
country6.

1.4 Despite these changes, rural Wales faces some significant economic 
challenges. Developing and sustaining a high skills economy can be 
difficult because the labour market is relatively small and there can often 
be a mismatch between having a workforce with the right skills to attract 
inward investment. New businesses are less prevalent in rural than 
urban areas. Whilst six of the nine primarily rural authorities have seen 
more businesses created than closed in 2016, the rate of growth has 
been gradually reducing since 2013 and the number of active business 
enterprises per 10,000 population fell in eight of the nine primarily rural 
authorities between 2008 and 2016. 

1.5 Most communities in Wales have seen average (mean) gross weekly 
earnings increase since 2012, but seven of the nine primarily rural 
authorities have average weekly wages below the overall Welsh average 
and in Pembrokeshire, wages have fallen7. Comparatively, rural Wales 
has lower wages and the gap between the counties with the lowest and 
highest average earnings is widening.

1.6 The economy of rural Wales is heavily geared towards self-employment 
and smaller businesses. In 2016-17, self-employment levels in the nine 
primarily rural authorities were above the Welsh average. Only one other 
authority (Torfaen) is above the Welsh average8. Data published by the 
Office of National Statistics show that a greater proportion of the workforce 
are employed in micro (between 1 and 9 employees) and small (between 
10 and 49 employees) businesses in rural Wales than other parts of the 
country9. For example in 2017, 40.1% of the workforce in Powys worked in 
micro businesses compared to 13.8% in Cardiff.

6 www.nomisweb.co.uk/articles/1048.aspx
7 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings/

averageweeklyearnings-by-welshlocalareas-year
8 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-

Demography 
9 www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/bulletins/

ukbusinessactivitysizeandlocation/2017 
Page 33

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/articles/1048.aspx
https://statswales.gov.wales/Error/NotFound
https://statswales.gov.wales/Error/NotFound
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/bulletins/ukbusinessactivitysizeandlocation/2017
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/bulletins/ukbusinessactivitysizeandlocation/2017


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 14

10 www.dera.ioe.ac.uk/15199/1/Barriers-to-education-employment-and-training-for-young-people-in-rural-areas.pdf 
11 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/Roads/Lengths-and-Conditions 

1.7 Research shows that young people in rural areas are more likely to be 
in low paid work, insecure employment or working within smaller firms 
than their urban counterparts. A particular challenge for young people 
is the difficulty in progressing in work due to the concentration of small 
firms, which offer limited opportunities for young people to upgrade their 
skills and progress. Consequently, this results in young people feeling 
that they are being ‘pushed’ away from rural areas because of the lack of 
opportunities and lower wages, and ‘pulled’ to urban areas because they 
have better job opportunities, progression prospects and higher salaries10.

Poor infrastructure and changes in how key services 
and facilities are delivered has adversely affected rural 
communities
1.8 A well-connected and good quality road network, regular and inexpensive 

public transport, affordable housing, accessible public and private services 
and excellent broadband coverage are key pre-requisites of creating 
sustainable rural communities. These building blocks connect people 
to the services they need so they can thrive and grow. But citizens we 
surveyed raised concerns that the foundations of rural life, the things 
that contribute to making their community a great place to live and work, 
coupled with the impact of public funding cuts and continuing economic 
uncertainty, have changed their communities in recent years, and not 
always for the better.

Poor transport infrastructure has affected citizens ability to access 
facilities, services and work

1.9 Whilst the quality of roads are improving across Wales, authorities in 
rural Wales have the poorest quality roads11. Rural authorities also 
disproportionately cover the bulk of the Welsh road network with 66.3% 
of roads in the nine primarily rural authorities. Some 56% of Town and 
Community Councils responding to our survey rated the condition of roads 
as in poor condition, a finding echoed by 31% of citizens who replied to 
our survey.

Page 34

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/Roads/Lengths-and-Conditions


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 15

1.10 Research by the Campaign for Better Transport shows that whilst most 
councils in Wales maintained or increased investment between 2010-11 
and 2016-17, they still reduced their expenditure on local bus routes by 
£5.1 million (24%). The largest increase was in Powys, where the budget 
increased by roughly £690,000 and the largest cut in Gwynedd, where the 
budget reduced by over £1 million12. Respondents to both our public and 
Town and Community Council surveys noted that public transport is less 
available than in the past and fear this decline is set to continue. Citizens 
cited Powys, Monmouthshire and Ceredigion as the areas with the least 
accessible public transport. Town and Community Councils across Wales 
similarly highlighted a decline in the availability of public transport with 
50% of respondents stating services had decreased in their community.

Citizens are being prevented from accessing and using public 
services because of poor broadband coverage

1.11 Superfast broadband is essential for consumers and businesses. It 
can help improve access to information, advice and help for citizens, 
and support public bodies to channel shift services to make it easier for 
citizens to access and use them but also to increase efficiency and create 
savings. Digital services also allow businesses to provide flexible working 
for employees so that they can work from home and access company 
systems remotely, saving costs and reducing carbon footprints. 

1.12 The UK has poor broadband infrastructure, Wales has the poorest 
broadband links in the UK and rural areas in Wales the poorest access 
to services. An analysis of over 63 million broadband speed tests 
worldwide revealed that the UK sits in 31st place, with an average speed 
of 16.51 Mbps13. Seven of the ten wards in Great Britain with the lowest 
average download speed are in Wales and located in Gwynedd, Powys, 
Monmouthshire, Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire14. 

1.13 The findings of our Town and Community Council survey echo these 
conclusions. A number of respondents commented on poor superfast 
broadband speed and ongoing difficulties accessing online information, 
completing forms and applications. The result is that rather than improving 
access to services, poor broadband coverage is resulting in services 
becoming less available and accessible especially as councils are 
increasing their provision of online services. 

12 www.bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf 
13 The data rates of modern residential high-speed Internet connections are commonly expressed in megabits 

per second (Mbps). www.docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1A8LDcCLY3HN5Oqys6VxB0ug8xgroDADVIA2Be
AF_tSM/edit#gid=0 

14 www.researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN06643/SN06643.pdf
Page 35

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://www.docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1A8LDcCLY3HN5Oqys6VxB0ug8xgroDADVIA2BeAF_tSM/edit#gid=0
https://www.docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1A8LDcCLY3HN5Oqys6VxB0ug8xgroDADVIA2BeAF_tSM/edit#gid=0


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 16

15 www.which.co.uk/news/2017/04/mapped-the-482-bank-branches-closing-in-2017/ 
16 Post Office Limited Network Report 2017; and www.researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN02585/

SN02585.pdf
17 www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/financial-services/deloitte-uk-bricks-and-clicks.pdf 
18 www.drive.google.com/file/d/0BxHxIVSxtvx2YVRtLTZDdkI0a0E/view 
19 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-

localauthority-tenure
20 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-house-price-index-wales-may-2018/uk-house-price-index-wales-

may-2018
21 http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/new-house-building/?lang=en

Bank and post office closures have adversely affected many Welsh 
communities

1.14 The growth in online and mobile services have seen a reduction in banks 
and post offices. Research by Which estimates that 93 banks have closed 
since 201515. Of these, 50 banks closed in the nine rural authority areas, 
36 in mixed urban/rural and six in urban authority areas. Powys has 
seen the largest number of closures in Wales with the loss of 11 banks 
since 2015. Post office provision has similarly fallen across all Welsh 
communities since 200716. Research by Deloitte17 and by Move your 
money18 highlight that the majority of closures happen in areas that are 
more dependent on bank and post office branches and most likely to be 
adversely affected by their shutting. For example, Deloitte classifies many 
areas of rural Wales as ‘declining rural communities’ who will experience 
further closures because of ‘shrinking footfall and reduced demand for 
financial products and services’.

There have been difficulties in developing and accessing housing in 
some rural areas

1.15 More people own their home than rent in rural areas. The nine primarily 
rural authorities have levels of owner occupation equal to or greater than 
the Welsh average but levels of social housing – rented from a housing 
association or council – are, overall, below the Welsh average19. House 
prices are also generally higher in rural areas than in urban communities. 
For example, in May 2018 six of the nine primarily rural counties recorded 
average sale prices in excess of the Welsh average of £148,89420. In 
recent years, new house building in rural Wales has mostly remained 
static but in four of the nine primarily rural authorities – Isle of Anglesey, 
Denbighshire, Monmouthshire and Powys – new dwelling construction has 
fallen21. 

Page 36

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://www.which.co.uk/news/2017/04/mapped-the-482-bank-branches-closing-in-2017/
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/financial-services/deloitte-uk-bricks-and-clicks.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-localauthority-tenure
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Dwelling-Stock-Estimates/dwellingstockestimates-by-localauthority-tenure
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-house-price-index-wales-may-2018/uk-house-price-index-wales-may-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-house-price-index-wales-may-2018/uk-house-price-index-wales-may-2018
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/new-house-building/?lang=en


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 17

1.16 Citizens responding to our survey highlighted the availability of housing, 
especially for younger people, the lack of affordable housing and rising 
house prices as growing problems. Welsh Government has supported 
authorities to create Rural Housing Enabler22 (RHE) posts to assist 
development of housing in rural communities. Despite investing in this 
important role, the supply of new affordable housing has not significantly 
increased and a recent report highlighted that ‘the dilemma facing all those 
involved in the RHE project is that delivery of rural affordable housing 
remains low’23. 

Citizens generally feel that key council services are not as 
available, affordable, accessible, adequate and acceptable 
as they used to be
1.17 Citizens we surveyed believe there has been a decline in council services 

in the last five years. According to 43% of citizen survey respondents, 
council services have got worse over the past five years, compared to 
39% who state there is no change. Only 10% say services have improved. 
24% note that council services they use have been stopped and 10% that 
services are now restricted. Just under half of citizens responding to our 
survey said that the council services they use are unaffordable to them. 

1.18 Despite recognising that things need to change, citizens’ reaction to 
alternative service delivery models is mixed. Just under half are open 
to the idea of encouraging communities to run services themselves, 
particularly those in younger age groups. However, whilst residents accept 
the need to deliver future services differently, roughly seven in ten survey 
respondents still want council services delivered as they are now. 

1.19 With increasingly constrained budgets, citizens are less positive about 
the future of public services. Only 29% agree that their local council will 
be able to deliver high quality services in the future but most citizens 
responding to our survey are unwilling to pay more council tax. Town and 
Community Councils responding to our survey support these conclusions, 
in particular, that the cost of council services have increased and become 
less accessible and available.

22 Rural Housing Enablers work with rural communities to identify local need for affordable homes and then work 
with the local community to find a suitable opportunity to develop housing.

23 http://rhewales.co.uk/images/user/Evaluation%20Rural%20Housing%20Enablers%20Wales%20Final%20
Report%202014.pdf

Page 37

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
http://rhewales.co.uk/images/user/Evaluation%20Rural%20Housing%20Enablers%20Wales%20Final%20Report%202014.pdf
http://rhewales.co.uk/images/user/Evaluation%20Rural%20Housing%20Enablers%20Wales%20Final%20Report%202014.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 18

Exhibit 1: the impact of service change on citizens and communities in rural Wales

Comments from Citizens on changes to public services

‘Seems to be closing down a lot of places – 
live on the edge of the county and don’t 

get much services/ quality of service than 
the rest of the county.’

‘Really poor internet, mobile 
connection.’

‘I just think that they have 
been cut to the bone and 

it is not sustainable.’

‘Well if I was a person on low income it 
must be a frightening position to be in, 
there’s nothing available for them. Too 
many potholes, bridge to get to house 

in desperate need of repair. Nothing 
seems to come of going to citizens’ 

advice.’

‘For schools parents have to pay extra 
money such as for extracurricular 

activities, hard if they got more than one 
kid. Roads and pavements (especially 

pavements) a lot need resurfacing, not 
taken care of, and therefore they are 

unsafe.’

'Bus service is bad, 
can’t get to many 

places with them so 
has only used it once.’

‘More job prospects 
unemployment is 
terrible, needs an 

injection of employment 
in the area.’

‘Broadband for 
businesses is our biggest 

problem; the council 
should work on providing 

better broadband 
connections.’

Citizens and town and community councillors have seen a reduction in public 
services in rural Wales.

Page 38



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 19

Comments from Town and Community Councils on changes to public 
services.

‘Low percentage of people 
are internet users and there 
is limited public transport.’

‘Elderly people and young people are disadvantaged 
by lack of locally available facilities and the reliability 

of public transport, which is both inefficient and 
infrequent.’

‘Closing of library services has made 
it more difficult for people to pay 

council tax and council house rent.’

‘People without their own transport cannot 
get to work using public transport on time. 

School buses often late. Young people looking 
for work whose parents do not drive do not 

find work easy. They cannot afford or are 
unable to travel far for work. Lack of bus 

service no chemist no local doctor no library 
living rural now means being cut off more 

especially for the sick or elderly.’

‘No public transport and no services 
in the area other than what is put on 
my community in the village hall. So 
anyone who can't drive is not able to 

access services.’

Page 39



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 20

Community Asset Transfers have increasingly been used 
by councils to save money but have not always resulted in 
sustainable solutions
1.20 With less money available to maintain key assets – for example, 

community halls, playing fields and changing rooms – councils are closing 
or selling off community assets to balance the books. In rural areas, 
these facilities are often key components of village life, the things that 
help communities to thrive and survive. Rather than closing amenities, 
one option for councils is to pursue a Community Asset Transfer (CAT)24. 
Consequently, the approach to CAT is indicative of how well public bodies 
support and encourage communities to do more for themselves and 
protect services. 

1.21 We found that more community asset transfers are happening. Twenty 
five percent of those responding to our Town and Community Council 
survey stated they have been involved in the transfer of open spaces, 19% 
the transfer of a village or community hall, 9% of bus shelters and 2% of 
streetlights. In Neath Port Talbot, the council has transferred 55 assets 
including eight community centres and nine libraries into community 
control and is supporting the development of social enterprises. Research 
by Locality25 concluded that the public bodies who are good at transferring 
assets have some common features. Namely, good quality and 
supportive guidance with short end-to-end processes for overseeing and 
approving cases. Critically, the success of transfers is founded on shared 
responsibility; both from the council transferring the asset, but also the 
community group and the body taking on responsibility. 

24 CAT involves the transfer of ownership or management of land and buildings and represents an opportunity for 
public bodies to sustain services, and help rural communities develop greater self-resilience.

25 http://locality.org.uk/services-tools/support-for-community-organisations/ownership-and-management-of-land-
and-buildings

Page 40

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
http://locality.org.uk/services-tools/support-for-community-organisations/ownership-and-management-of-land-and-buildings/
http://locality.org.uk/services-tools/support-for-community-organisations/ownership-and-management-of-land-and-buildings/


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 21

26 The Welsh Governments Best Practice Guide provides good information and helpful resources to encourage 
councils to collaborate with community groups to both build capacity and enable successful transfers: http://gov.
wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/comm/160310-community-asset-transfer-env2.pdf. 

1.22 We are concerned that councils are not always doing all they can to 
ensure a smooth handover and create a sustainable legacy. For instance, 
councils could do more to build capacity in their communities to be able 
to take on and successfully sustain assets. Only seven councils, of which 
four are primarily rural, provide capacity building, training, mentoring, and 
financial support to community groups and potential transferees. Only 15% 
of those Town and Community Councils responding to our survey who 
have taken on responsibility for an asset, received some form of financial 
assistance from their council, and only 10% ongoing support after transfer. 
For the bulk of assets transferred, Town and Community Councils take the 
asset in good faith and often feel they have to take on the transfer even 
when they do not have the skills, capacity or resources to maintain the 
asset.

1.23 CAT policies and business case templates often lack detail on the criteria 
used to decide on transfers, in particular demonstrating financial health 
and proven record of accomplishment is often overlooked or not detailed. 
Only five councils signpost expert guidance on CATs aimed at community 
groups produced by Welsh Government26 and others. Applicants are often 
not required to set out how service provision will change or the impact of 
the transfer on protecting and promoting the Welsh language. Too often 
councils operate a ‘one size fits all’ approach and do not differentiate 
between the size of asset to be transferred. Generally, councils initiate and 
encourage the transfer but the risks associated with taking on an asset are 
not always transparently set out. Councils often do not require a business 
case nor do they have an equality impact assessment to support the 
disposal.

1.24 See our more detailed report on Community Asset Transfers.  

Page 41

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/comm/160310-community-asset-transfer-env2.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/comm/160310-community-asset-transfer-env2.pdf
https://www.audit.wales/cy/publication/provision-local-government-services-rural-communities-community-asset-transfer


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 22

Part 2 – Councils and their partners are not 
always responding effectively to the challenges 
faced by rural communities

2.1 In the preceding section, we have highlighted the difficulties that councils 
and their partners face, and need to overcome, in providing services to 
rural communities. The infrastructure gap facing our villages and rural 
communities is not only physical or digital; it is social and public. The 
renewal of rural Wales depends on public bodies working strategically 
and smartly together to understand and address these gaps. Individual 
agencies alone cannot solve problems. In this part of the report, we review 
how councils and their partners plan to support and sustain their rural 
communities in the future, through the work of Public Service Boards 
(PSBs). We review the quality of needs assessments, the effectiveness 
of partnership arrangements, the impact of consultation and engagement 
with citizens in setting priorities and actions, and the approach to 
collaboration and service integration. The section concludes with an 
assessment of how public bodies evaluate impact in deciding future 
choices.

The role of Public Service Boards is evolving but there are 
opportunities to articulate a clearer and more ambitious 
shared vision for rural Wales
2.2 Under the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 (the ‘Act’), 

partnership arrangements in Wales are changing. The creation of PSBs 
helps to strengthen joint working across all public services. PSBs are 
required to complete assessments of local wellbeing and identify areas 
where the PSB can have the biggest collective impact (towards the well-
being goals) by working together. PSBs therefore offer the opportunity to 
move from multiple organisation planning and silo working to the creation 
of single place based strategies.

Page 42



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 23

2.3 We identified some positive approaches that are creating a well-
articulated vision for the future. For example, Monmouthshire’s People 
Place Prosperity Strategy27 recognises the different communities within 
the county and how meeting needs, and demand varies, is specific 
to local communities and requires different responses. In comparison 
however, some PSBs continue to deliver a one size fits all approach 
based on universal eligibility and centralised delivery models. Wellbeing 
Assessments and Plans have a number of shortcomings when considering 
rural areas. Too often, they act as a plan to make a plan and have not 
moved from analysing the current situation to actually setting out a 
shared vision underpinned by actions to make things better. Actions in the 
Wellbeing Plans we examined are very broad and it is often not clear who 
will do what or how services in rural areas will become more adequate, 
accessible, available, affordable, or acceptable.

2.4 Opportunities to collaborate and integrate services to maximise impact and 
make best use of resources are under developed or not pursued. Despite 
working together in recent years, key PSB partners have not clarified what 
they have learnt so far by looking at what works well and why. Wellbeing 
Assessments we reviewed did not consider future spending and the 
opportunities to pool budgets. In addition, service capabilities, impacts of 
prevention work, options for improvement, and information on spending 
and budgets are often lacking in Assessments. 

2.5 PSBs do not always assess the capabilities of current services nor identify 
the contribution the private and third sectors can make. Social enterprises, 
which offer a community led response to the challenge of residualisation, 
are a particularly important option that PSBs should support, but their 
role is mostly overlooked. The establishment or involvement of social 
enterprises is not without challenge or risk – there is a mixed record of 
accomplishment of success and councils have examples of lost time and 
money trying to support them. 

2.6 Nonetheless, with increasing pressures on the public purse and a 
commitment by policy makers to design services around the needs of 
citizens, it is clear that the private, third and social enterprise sectors 
have an important and growing role to play. They offer flexibility to 
harness and improve quality and achieve innovation, but PSBs need 
to integrate services at the point of delivery to identify and support the 
most appropriate response, be it from the public, private, or third sector, 
including social enterprises. 

27 https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/documents/s13975/180418%20Draft%20Social%20Justice%20
Strategy%20V5%20Appendix%20A%20180502.pdf 

Page 43

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/documents/s13975/180418%20Draft%20Social%20Justice%20Strategy%20V5%20Appendix%20A%20180502.pdf
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/documents/s13975/180418%20Draft%20Social%20Justice%20Strategy%20V5%20Appendix%20A%20180502.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 24

2.7 PSBs have much to do in order to improve relations with Town and 
Community Councils. Only 11% of Town and Community Councils 
responding to our survey indicated that they had a good working 
relationship with their PSB, compared to the 66% of respondents who 
felt that they had a good working relationship with their council. Almost a 
third of Town and Community Council respondents indicated they did not 
understand the role of PSBs.

Analysis of data to understand problems and agree 
appropriate solutions is poor
2.8 PSBs are using data to understand the challenges they need to address 

and to review past performance. Some PSBs – Pembrokeshire, 
Ceredigion, and Carmarthenshire PSBs – are also collaborating and have 
joint wellbeing guidance, a Joint Methodology Framework, and actively 
share reports, data and information. Several PSBs are planning to map all 
service and community assets – for example, Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion, 
Neath Port Talbot, Swansea, and the Vale of Glamorgan – to identify 
how best to collectively optimise asset use and delivery of services. 
Pembrokeshire, Powys and Conwy and Denbighshire PSBs also have 
information strategies to improve how they collect and analyse data. 

2.9 However, we also identified some common weaknesses in current 
approaches. The root cause of problems in different communities are not 
identified because data is often collected, managed and analysed in silos 
and/or at a county level only. This can result in organisations overlooking 
the different challenges in diverse rural areas. Councils recognise that 
their data is not robust and has limitations, and that they do not have the 
right skills nor capacity to make the best use of data.

2.10 There is little demonstration of how public bodies understand the diverse 
nature of their rural communities. For example, in those Wellbeing 
Assessments and Plans that mention rural matters, infrastructure is a 
common area for improvement, but Plans contain few specific actions 
or steps to improve infrastructure, such as actions to improve roads and 
cycle ways, integrate public transport and extend broadband networks. 

Page 44



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 25

Councils are not always tapping into their communities to 
help them prioritise and deliver services
2.11 Involving partners and the public in developing and shaping the services 

they provide and receive can have a wide range of benefits: for public 
bodies, the public involved and society more widely. Engaging key groups 
at an early stage can help shape delivery choices so the services provided 
are more meaningful and useful to the people who use them, and will 
consequently make a more positive impact. Good communication and 
engagement can also stimulate interest and encourage people to become 
more involved in shaping and delivering services. 

2.12 Several Wellbeing Assessments identify the potential for social capital28  
and volunteering. Powys PSB recognises that many people are willing to 
volunteer, and the focus on encouraging social capital in Monmouthshire’s 
Wellbeing Plan is a particular strength that can be built on. The findings 
of our citizen’s survey highlight the potential benefit of social capital with 
roughly half of the people we surveyed open to the idea of encouraging 
communities to run services themselves, particularly those in younger age 
groups (61% of 16-34 year olds). 

2.13 Engagement work is often via established channels. For example, in 
tackling loneliness and isolation in rural areas, community involvement has 
involved traditional ‘set piece’ events, online consultation, and some basic 
social media shout outs. Where engagement happens, it is mostly focused 
on one-off issues rather than driving a fundamental shift in approach. 
Other ways of engaging and involving the public are not regularly pursued; 
for instance using a programme of targeted surveys of a representative 
cross section of the community, annually posting surveys with council 
tax bills or other correspondence, and examining common themes from 
correspondence and community contact over the last few years.

28 Social capital is the economic resources obtained from interactions between businesses or public bodies and 
individuals or networks of individuals.

Page 45

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 26

2.14 A number of public bodies have sought to improve public engagement by 
developing corporate standards and approaches. These include: 

 a Gwynedd County Council’s central engagement team’s internal 
guidance and toolkit to support services in engaging with service users 
and communities, and its citizen-focused approach under the Ffordd 
Gwynedd principle.

 b Dyfed Powys Police and Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority 
have established ‘customer service excellence standards’ and monitor 
service provision against these, which enables the service to address 
problems as they are identified.

 c the Isle of Anglesey County Council in collaboration with Medrwn 
Mon’s Community Voices project (a third sector initiative) engages with 
people with protected characteristics in reviewing services. In addition, 
the council’s Engagement and Consultation Board is also mapping 
approaches to engagement to determine what works and why to 
provide further resources that support relevant engagement activities.

 d the Vale of Glamorgan Council’s approach to community engagement 
using a community mapping tool, although at them time of our review 
this had only been undertaken in four communities and not rolled out to 
all communities in the rural areas.

 e the Welsh Government funded LEADER programme that encourages 
empowerment through local strategy development and resource 
allocation. Currently there are 18 Local Action Groups in Wales 
covering eligible wards in 21 Local Authority areas29.

2.15 A strong and clear message from citizens is that councils are not good 
at communicating their vision of future services to communities so that 
people know what will be available, and what role the community itself 
can play. Most residents have not been given the chance to voice their 
opinions. Our citizen survey finds the majority of respondents’ (83%) had 
not completed a survey or been asked for their views on the services they 
have used in the last 12 months.  

2.16 Our findings suggest that Town and Community Councils are not being 
utilised to understand need, which is concerning given their strong links to 
village life in many remote and very rural areas of Wales. Very few indicate 
that their local authority or PSBs consult them in order to understand 
residents’ needs. Only 30% of Town and Community Councils responding 
to our survey contributed to consultation activity to identify local needs in 
their area and only 7% in setting the priorities of their PSB. Similarly, a 
number of stakeholders we interviewed commented that engagement with 
the private sector and business community is not always effective.

29 https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/cap/ruraldevelopment/wales-rural-
development-programme-2014-2020/leader/?lang=en

Page 46

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/cap/ruraldevelopment/wales-rural-development-programme-2014-2020/leader/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/farmingandcountryside/cap/ruraldevelopment/wales-rural-development-programme-2014-2020/leader/?lang=en


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 27

30 https://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/180116reviewen.pdf

Whilst partnership working and collaboration is long 
established and can be effective, integration of services is 
limited
2.17 We found that most public bodies acknowledge that they do not have the 

capacity, resources or skills to respond to the needs of rural communities 
and know that they need to work differently and with others. With 
dispersed communities across much of Rural Wales and the new focus 
of the Act on combined service delivery options to address needs, there 
is an expectation that colocation, partnership working, and collaboration 
will increasingly become the standard model for delivering services, and a 
catalyst for integration of services.

2.18 Whilst councils recognise the value of joint and integrated working, they 
are not always organising and coordinating their work to make the best 
use of their expertise or realise the benefits that integration can bring. 
Rather, public bodies continue to focus on their own responsibilities, not 
the wider challenge of how public services collectively work together in an 
area. 

2.19 For example, public bodies continue to operate out of separate buildings 
and run their own websites with their own information about their services 
and activities. Mapping provision is taking place but has not extended 
to reviewing current service delivery to identify options for co-location 
and integration. Collaboration is often based on opportunity or one-off 
relationships and not driven by place-based change or design.

2.20 Emergency services (Police and Fire) generally find working with other 
emergency services easier, but are less able to influence partnership 
working with other public bodies. Similarly, councils find it easier to engage 
with some bodies and agree joint priorities for action, for example housing 
associations, than others such as health boards. Regional arrangements 
have the potential to manage the effects of changing patterns of demand 
for services by sharing and integrating increasingly scarce resources 
and expertise. Our findings are consistent with the recent Parliamentary 
Review of Health and Social Care in Wales that found that the current 
pattern of health and social care provision is not fit for the future and 
emphasises the need for change30. 

Page 47

https://bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/research-files/2010_final_buscuts.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/180116reviewen.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 28

2.21 We did identify some good joint initiatives in rural areas such as the Rural 
North Flintshire Family Centre, integrated health and social care in the 
rural community of Llanrwst in Conwy County Borough, and the Health 
Challenge in Denbighshire. However, these are largely one-off initiatives 
rather than a fundamental shift in delivery with shared budgets, joint 
resourcing, integrated posts and delivery bases.

Managing and preventing demand is acknowledged as 
essential in maintaining services but progress is mixed
2.22 Preventing unnecessary and avoidable demand for services represents 

good value for money. Demand management can be a starting point for 
public service providers as they balance delivery of services that meet 
the needs of citizens with fewer resources at their disposal. To work, it 
requires collaboration, longer-term thinking, and an insight into how best to 
deliver services embracing new ways of working31. 

2.23 Currently, too much prevention activity in rural areas centres on ‘one off’ 
approaches to reduce demand or prevent service requests. For instance, 
services are often located in main urban areas or larger towns, which can 
result in people living in more remote rural areas not using them because 
of their location and poor transport links. On paper, services appear 
accessible and configured to address need, but in reality, more dispersed 
rural communities do not use them.  

2.24 Another common limitation in prevention activity we reviewed is its short-
term nature, partly a reflection of funding cycles and annual grants. 
Likewise, weak evaluation of the wide variety of initiatives and limited 
sharing of project learning means there are risks to the sustainability of 
prevention projects by replicating problems and potentially duplicating 
efforts. In line with a public body’s statutory responsibility, services are 
often designed to reduce risk, but focusing on this rarely leads to demand 
being addressed. Professionals can label service users and define their 
needs but this can overlook underlying problems. Consequently, demand 
escalates before there is an intervention because public bodies pass 
responsibility for addressing issues back and fore.

31 Appendix 10 of our report on managing demand – homelessness sets out some clear principles to help shape 
management of demand that can be applied to provision of services to rural areas.

Page 48

http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/local-government-homelessness-2017-english.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 29

2.25 The other part of the demand equation is supply, and the availability of 
qualified staff is one area where services are increasingly overstretched. 
National organisations we spoke to told us about recruitment problems 
in qualified primary school teachers, family doctors, planners and Welsh-
speaking carers. A shortage of on-call retained fire fighters is leaving 
some stations in rural areas potentially under-resourced. Currently there 
are more than 400 on-call retained fire fighter vacancies across the three 
Welsh Fire and Rescue Authorities.

2.26 We found some positive approaches where organisations are preventing 
demand and increasing access to services. These include Mid and 
West Fire and Rescue Authority who use their Safe and Well Home 
safety checks, and risk based commercial inspections, to help people in 
rural communities. Similarly, Dyfed Powys Police Farmwatch project, a 
neighbourhood-policing project with a rural focus, which we highlight as 
good practice in Appendix 3. 

2.27 Other approaches to prevention and managing demand look to develop 
greater self-reliance in citizens, with public bodies looking to equip people 
to address their own problems. Self-sufficiency is often highlighted as 
central to rural life and there is a perception that rural communities are 
more resilient and need less support than urban areas. This is important 
because prevailing images of rural areas are often polarized as both 
declining and stagnant or alternatively that rural areas are picturesque and 
self-sufficient. 

2.28 A few authorities actively test this perception highlighting community 
resilience, volunteering, and developing social capital as key strands of 
work. For example, the Future Monmouthshire programme includes a 
high-level vision of shifting the focus from direct provision to enabling 
communities and empowering citizens to do more for themselves. 
However, as noted in Part 1 of this report, the ageing profile of the rural 
population and the continuing outward migration of young people, and 
inward migration of older people,32 as well as volunteers’ longer-term 
engagement or ‘enthusiasm’ can be lost through burn-out or competing 
commitments, raises challenges in creating greater self-sufficiency.  

32 See http://www.wales.nhs.uk/healthtopics/populations/ruralhealth
Page 49

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/healthtopics/populations/ruralhealth


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 30

Councils and their partners need to improve their 
understanding of the impact their decisions have on people 
from different communities
2.29 There is variable practice in how councils seek to understand and 

demonstrate the impact, or potential impact, of their decisions and 
services on citizens. Most councils undertake, for example, Human Rights 
Act, Legal, Equality and Welsh language risk/impact assessments when 
implementing new policies and plans or revising existing documentation. 
However, these tend to consider services at a council-wide level and 
do not look at the different needs of different communities. In addition, 
we also found very few examples of public bodies using the Welsh 
Governments Rural Proofing Tool in revising or developing services (see 
Appendix 4). Too often, this results in a single broad-brush analysis that 
can overlook and ignore differences. 

2.30 Generally, councils often lack the data and evidence to judge the impact of 
their work on different rural communities, or to identify what works and how 
they can improve. Councils with larger urban areas and dispersed rural 
communities are particularly challenged by the one-size fits all approach 
to evidence and evaluation. Focusing on county level data to identify need 
and scrutinise performance does not provide the detail needed to shape 
services to the different rural communities.

2.31 Many organisations do not see rural issues as a distinct policy area. This 
is particularly applicable to those we have classed as mixed urban/rural 
councils. The impact of service change follows a one-size fits all approach 
centred on the ease of delivering services from larger centres. Moreover, 
because councils with a mix of larger urban centres and dispersed rural 
communities have not used the Welsh Governments Rural Proofing Tool to 
help shape context, this can result in an over emphasis on urban need and 
urban solutions. 

2.32 Consequently, some councils are not focusing on rurality as a policy 
or delivery strand despite containing significant rural areas and 
rural communities. For instance, whilst public bodies like Neath Port 
Talbot understand the challenges facing people across their different 
communities, public service partners have mostly prioritised future work 
in the main urban areas of Neath, Aberavon and Port Talbot. Officers and 
members recognise that priorities for these areas may not be suitable for 
more rural and valleys communities.

Page 50



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 31

Part 3 – To help sustain rural communities, 
councils and their partners need to think and 
act differently in the future 
3.1 The way services are provided to communities, villages and towns in rural 

Wales needs to change. With significant cuts in public funding, councils 
have focused on to ‘salami slicing’ budgets and reducing non-statutory 
services. However, increasingly councils are reflecting that ‘more of the 
same’ is not a sustainable long-term response.

3.2 The policy direction of the Welsh Government is encouraging a rethink 
of the local public service model. Regional partnerships such as the 
Growing Mid Wales partnership covering Ceredigion and Powys County 
Councils, draw together local businesses, academic leaders and national 
and local government to create a vision for future growth. Shifting delivery 
to regional bodies is based on the view that a more systematic integrated 
response to problems is both possible and desirable. It also supports 
the integration of some local services, shifting investment away from a 
reactive service model towards more community-based and preventative 
solutions. 

3.3 The evidence from our review highlights that councils alone cannot 
effectively solve the problems of rural Wales. A collaborative approach 
between public services working together with their communities and 
doing things differently is required. To achieve this, councils and their 
partners need to think and act differently, working together to build 
capacity, social capital and encourage communities and citizens to do 
more for themselves. Co-location and integration also needs to become 
the standard operating model going forward. 

3.4 A place-based approach is therefore a good starting point in thinking about 
how best to reshape delivery of public services. Such an approach moves 
the debate from lots of separate and distinct front doors into individual 
services to a single front door, or gateway, to access public services. 
Taking such an approach places the citizen and community at the centre 
of service design because it allows public bodies to focus on the individual 
and their needs rather than organisational or professional boundaries. 

3.5 This model sits well with provision in rural areas in a time of austerity 
because the cost of sharing offices is less and the prospect of retaining 
services enhanced. Working as a single place-based public system also 
provides the opportunity to focus more clearly on outcomes, because a 
broad range of factors influences outcomes and require an integrated 
response to resolve them33.

33 The work of the Canadian Centre for Community Renewal is a good starting point for public bodies pursuing a 
place-based approach. Their detailed Community Resilience Toolkit: A Resource for Rural Renewal and 
Recovery provides a systematic guide to strengthening community resilience. The Toolkit focuses on helping 
organisations – community, statutory and private – to understand the concept of resilience, complete an 

Page 51

http://communityrenewal.ca/sites/all/files/resource/P200_0.pdf
http://communityrenewal.ca/sites/all/files/resource/P200_0.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 32

3.6 A whole system approach also recognises that very often citizens and 
service users have multiple needs, which require inputs from many public 
services to address them. Research by the Greater Manchester Public 
Service Reform Team34 found that 48 individual citizens who sought help 
and assistance from public bodies had collectively made 1,235 requests 
or demands for assistance, an average of 26 per client. Under a traditional 
model of service delivery, where each agency operates independently, 
and often-different services within the same agency act in silos, the onus 
is on the citizen to seek a solution and it is down to them to work their way 
through the public service system. This can result in demand escalating 
and problems becoming more critical and costly to deal with because 
citizens may not know who to contact for assistance, and may not get the 
help they need at a time when problems can be resolved. 

3.7 Councils and their partners should explore different system perspectives, 
including citizens, and ask what we need to support public bodies and 
people to contribute to improving outcomes35. Research also suggests 
that to do this you need to understand the key perspectives within a local 
system (people and organisations); the role they can play in achieving 
positive change; and the collaborative local infrastructure needed to 
enable them to work towards shared objectives in the context of place36. 
Our review has identified that there is potential to support a more 
sustainable future if councils and their partners shift to a place-based 
approach and think differently in designing services to respond to the 
needs of rural Wales. To make place based working a reality we have 
identified four key strands of work and these are set out below:

34 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/588237/
Integrated_place_based_services_Academy_seminar_slidepack_310117.pdf 

35 Collaborate CIC, February 2017.
36 https://www.jrf.org.uk/why-we-need-build-social-capital-cities

Page 52

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/588237/Integrated_place_based_services_Academy_seminar_slidepack_310117.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/588237/Integrated_place_based_services_Academy_seminar_slidepack_310117.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/why-we-need-build-social-capital-cities


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 33

3.8. A STRATEGIC PLACE BASED APPROACH – councils and their 
partners recognise the scale of the problem they face in delivering 
services in rural Wales but are less clear on what they are going to 
do to overcome these. PSBs need to therefore develop a more 
ambitious and optimistic vision for the future, highlighting the 
good things about rural communities and pinpointing practical 
opportunities to improve people’s wellbeing. One way to 
achieve this is for PSBs to work with local partners and 
citizens to create a place-based vision and set out how local 
partners will integrate and collectively deliver services. The 
approach should build on the Local Well-being Plan setting out 
an agreed collective understanding of long-term community 
needs; the social and economic vision for place with joint priorities 
to address agreed challenges; and map the services, networks and 
facilities that are potentially available to co-locate and integrate 
services.

3.9. WORKING COLLABORATIVELY AND INTEGRATING SERVICE 
DELIVERY – even if under pressure, councils still need to be provided 
in rural Wales and it is the responsibility of public bodies to find the 
most efficient and effective (for the citizens) way to achieve this. A 
change in mind-set and an acceptance that acting alone is no longer 
viable is required. This will need a shift to co-financing and potentially 
compromise on service models delivery points, and a move to 
creating integrated public service and community hubs. 

3.10. From the customer perspective multi-service hubs are a good 
option as they are convenient ‘one-stop shop’ and can become 
community focal points thereby enhancing social capital. 
They need to be multi-purpose, cross-sector and reflect local 
needs in terms of what they provide, hosting a range of 
partners and public services. Hubs can also extend the use 
of local assets and offer the potential to act as gateways to 
public services operating either as:

a) Service hubs with a public sector focus – run by a council, housing 
association or other public sector organisation, bringing together 
different services under one roof.  

b) Community hubs run by community organisations – with different 
projects, activities and services, often run with a high level of 
involvement from the local community to fill gaps where public 
services have disappeared – for example supporting the work of 
credit unions. 

Page 53



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 34

3.11. ADDRESSING INFRASTRUCTURE GAPS  – rural Wales has some 
significant infrastructure challenges. We recognise that addressing 
these are not always the primary responsibility of local government, 
cannot be dealt with by councils alone and requires support and 
assistance from others. However, councils and partners can pursue 
some steps. For instance: 

a) supporting an integrated public transport network aligning bus 
and cycling networks with rail services;

b) help people and businesses make the most of digital 
connectivity by investing in infrastructure and digital skills 
(see the good practice example of Carmarthenshire County 
Council Boosting Wi-Fi connectivity rural areas in Appendix 3); 

c) proactively promoting and raising awareness of infrastructure 
rollout e.g. Gwynedd Council increasing awareness and engagement 
with local communities and enhancing skills through their Digital 
Gwynedd project37; and

d) supporting community asset transfer by identifying which assets are 
suitable to transfer, and clarifying what needs to be done. 

3.12. SUPPORTING SELF-HELP IN RURAL COMMUNITIES – provide the 
full range of services traditionally made available, councils and 
partners need to not only change how they work but they also 
need to encourage communities and citizens to do more for 
themselves by:

a) improving community based leadership by developing networks 
of interest, supporting volunteering and encouraging people 
to step up;

b) supporting social enterprise and more collaborative business 
models by identifying options for existing and new 
organisations; 

c) developing guidance, toolkits and networks that support the 
development of place based town/village planning and place 
plans created within and led by communities;

d) providing tailored, community outreach to encourage and support 
communities to do more for themselves; and 

e) enhancing and recognise the role of town and community councils 
and working with and supporting them to do more.

37 www.citizensonline.org.uk/digitalgwynedd
Page 54

http://www.citizensonline.org.uk/digitalgwynedd/


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 35

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Study Methodology
Our review methodology covered the following:

• A review of accumulated audit knowledge and practice.

• Communication and engagement with rural communities via attendance at 
the Royal Welsh Show and a range of local county fayres in Monmouthshire, 
the Vale of Glamorgan and the Isle of Anglesey. 

• A detailed analysis of data drawn from StatsWales, the Local Government 
Data Unit Benchmarking Hub, the Office of National Statistics, NOMIS, the 
Institute of Public Care and HM Land Registry. 

• A review of published literature including reports and primary research by 
the Wales Rural Observatory, the Commission for Rural Communities, Move 
your Money, Better Transport, Deloitte, Post Office Counters LTD, the Welsh 
Government, One Voice Wales, BDRC Continental, DCLG and DEFRA. 

• An analysis of a sample of Public Service Board Well-being Assessment and 
Plans.

• A survey of 711 Town and Community Councils to identify the challenges 
they face in managing, maintaining and developing services to rural 
communities and how well they engage with and work in partnership with 
local authorities in respect of community asset transfers. We received 
responses from 355 bodies.

• A qualitative survey of 750 citizens to ascertain how well local government 
engage with and understand public perceptions in shaping services to rural 
communities. The survey question framework was framed to link with past 
research on services to rural communities, in particular the 2007 Wales 
Rural Observatory report ‘Coping with Access to Services’38 which identifies 
five important dimensions of delivering services in rural settings: adequate, 
accessible, available, affordable and acceptable.

• Interviews with key national stakeholders including Welsh Government, 
One Voice Wales, Society of Community Council Clerks, Welsh Local 
Government Association, third sector bodies, Community Housing Cymru, 
the Big Lottery, the Princes Trust, the National Farmers Union, academic 
institutions, private businesses and government agencies. 

• Detailed fieldwork in Carmarthenshire, Isle of Anglesey, Gwynedd, 
Monmouthshire, Neath Port Talbot and the Vale of Glamorgan, the three 
National Park Authorities, Dyfed Powys Police and Mid and West Fire and 
Rescue Authority. Our fieldwork included interviews and focus groups with 
officers, members, and engagement with local partners.

38 www.walesruralobservatory.org.uk/sites/default/files/12_CopingAccessServices.pdf
Page 55

http://www.walesruralobservatory.org.uk/sites/default/files/12_CopingAccessServices.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 36

39 WLGA Rural Forum - A Manifesto of the WLGA Rural Forum for 2015-2020 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/download.
php?id=6257&l=1

Appendix 2 – Defining ‘Rural’ Wales
A key difficulty in looking at this area of work is that there is no single agreed 
definition of a rural area in Wales. The Welsh Government differentiates 
between two categories - less sparse context and sparsest context - and 
between three settlement types. 

Within the Less Sparse context there are:

• Large Towns: with populations of at least 10,000 people including Cardiff, 
Newport and Swansea along the North Wales coast, Deeside and Wrexham; 

• Small Towns: settlements of less than 10,000 people in the more densely 
populated areas for example Denbigh and Monmouth – and also areas of 
urban fringe around the major settlements; and 

• Others: villages, hamlets and dispersed dwellings in the less sparse areas 

In the Sparsest context there are:

• Large Towns: settlements with a population of at least 10,000 people – 
Holyhead, Newtown, Aberystwyth and Carmarthen;

• Small Towns: in the less densely populated areas with less than 10,000 
people; and 

• Others: villages, hamlets and dispersed dwellings in the sparsest areas of 
Wales

According to the Welsh Government’s classification, nearly 20% of the overall 
Welsh population lives in areas that are broadly classified as rural. Of these 
rural residents, only 30 percent live in the sparsest large or small towns; the 
majority (70%) live in either ‘other’ less sparse or sparsest areas (Welsh 
Government, 2015). 

According to the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation in 2014, these areas are 
ranked as some of the least deprived areas based on income, which would 
appear to indicate that rural areas suffer less poverty and deprivation than 
urban areas in Wales. The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) takes 
account of a range of factors when measuring deprivation. It identifies Isle of 
Anglesey, Powys, Ceredigion, Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot, Bridgend 
and Caerphilly as the counties with the highest incidence of rural deprivation in 
Wales. 

The WLGA’s rural policy forum consists of nine councils (Anglesey, 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Conwy, Denbighshire, Gwynedd, Monmouthshire, 
Pembrokeshire and Powys with representation from National Parks Wales.) In 
late 2015, the forum published a new series of priorities39, which focus on three 
key areas - Future Generations; Our networks; and Our places.

Page 56



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 37

Appendix 3 – Good practice case studies

A strategic place based approach

Powys – the PSB has a sound process of reviewing data and the 
format of the wellbeing assessment reports are very accessible 
and cross-referenced with up-to-date data sources. Independent 

advice has been sought to give reassurance on data quality. Some comparison 
of data is made with councils outside Wales such as fly tipping, and with other 
regions in Wales including sustainable energy generation. A research library has 
been established which holds research papers and information on rural issues 
and this is referenced when deciding potential responses in its first Wellbeing 
Plan. The PSB’s Well-Being Assessment rates the impact of each key finding 
against the seven well-being goals and whether they have a positive or negative 
affect on well-being. The Assessment uses a wide range of local and national 
data to make a considered analysis of domestic violence and abuse, public 
health issues, educational attainment in rural schools, locations and provision 
of suitable accommodation for older people, broadband connectivity, and the 
impact of cybercrime on local rural businesses. As a result, the PSB is in a 
better position to co-ordinate action more effectively.

Vale of Glamorgan – the Creative Rural Communities Team was established in 
2004 in the Vale of Glamorgan and the work is undertaken in partnership with 
communities to develop innovative projects and ideas that will create long-term 
social and economic benefits for the area. The aim is to empower individuals 
to become actively involved in the future of their communities. The Creative 
Rural Communities Mapping project built upon findings of a tackling poverty 
analysis commissioned by the former Vale Local Service Board, which found 
that it is generally the St Athan area of the Vale of Glamorgan that experiences 
the most poverty and deprivation when compared to other rural parts of the 
Vale. The approach seeks to work with communities to identify both the Social 
Assets, for example, community groups, organisations and individuals as well 
as Physical Assets including Community centres, open spaces and businesses 
in a community. The council piloted the use of the mapping approach in three 
communities in the Rural Vale in St Athan, Wenvoe and Rhoose. The mapping 
process has brought people together across those communities and has led to 
the identification of what matters in those communities. In St Athan one of the 
main priorities that the community identified was better play areas for children. 
A local group of residents have formed a community group to tackle this need 
and are working with the council’s play development officer to increase their 
knowledge around the delivery of play activities and the volunteers are receiving 
informal mentoring to assist them with developing play provision in the area.

Page 57



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 38

Dyfed Powys Police – the Force’s rural policing strategy 2017-20 sets out 
what work is being planned to improve access to services in rural areas. The 
police are developing and supporting rural watch schemes, and increasing the 
number of Special Constables and volunteers working in rural communities. 
PCs and PSCOs are more accessible by being stationed in rural communities 
using shared facilities with Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service, the 
use of the pop up tents and marquees at the summer shows and events and 
the introduction of a number of twitter accounts with local police teams. Police 
officers and support staff are receiving enhanced levels of training to ensure 
they have the correct expertise to deal with rural crime; this is necessary due to 
the complex nature of certain rural crimes. Supporting these officers is a Rural 
Crime Coordinator.  

The Force has also created county-based Rural Crime Forums, which bring 
together farming union representatives, Farmwatch coordinators, rural based 
community groups and local authorities. These forums help build confidence in 
reporting crime, find shared solutions and improve the exchange of information 
and intelligence to enable focused targeting of criminals and criminality. 
Dyfed Powys Police Rural Crime Strategy 2017 also outlines the specific rural 
challenges the force faces, and the resources it will put in place to implement 
the rural strategy. These include actions to improve prevention activity, detection 
and enforcement actions, intelligence sharing, and public reassurance work.

Working collaboratively and integrating service  
delivery

North Wales Fire and Rescue Authority – the Authority’s 
Community Assistance Team teamed up with Welsh Government, 

the three emergency services, Denbighshire County Council, Conwy County 
Borough Council, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board, Galw Gofal Care 
Connect, and North Wales Regional Call Monitoring Service to offer integrated 
safety and health advice and respond to vulnerable people who experience 
a fall in their home. Referrals were made from hospitals, GPs, from family 
members, carers, or from the people themselves. As a result, demand for the 
services of the specialised Community Assistance Team continued to grow 
since the initiative aimed at protecting people in their homes began in August 
2016. The Community Assistance Team benefited over a thousand people 
since the launch of the pilot in Denbighshire and Conwy. The scheme helped 
to reduce the number of people who needed to attend hospital, reducing the 
pressure and demands on ambulance and medical services. Funding for the 
project has now ended and it is no longer operating.

Page 58



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 39

Addressing infrastructure gaps

Carmarthenshire County Council – a Wi-Fi initiative is boosting 
connectivity and economic regeneration in the rural towns and 
villages of Ammanford, Burry Port, Carmarthen, Llandovery, 

St Clears and Whitland. The project is backed by Carmarthenshire County 
Council, who have given grant funding and made a successful funding bid on 
behalf of the Grŵp Cefn Gwlad Local Action Group, which has secured funding 
of £120,000 from the national LEADER scheme. Town councils, businesses, 
organisations and individuals are now able to access digital on-line training 
resources to support digital skills development. The initiative also incorporates 
free local Wi-Fi. As a result, new opportunities for jobs, apprenticeships, work 
placements and digital volunteers are being created.

Community Asset Transfer – we identified the following authorities as having 
developed good approaches to community asset transfer:

• Rhondda Cynon Taf who have declared a number of assets as surplus to 
their needs (referred to as ‘Assets of Community Value’). The Council’s 
website includes guidance, online templates, a detailed building description 
and a single point of contact for information, all aimed at helping to ensure 
the smooth transfer of assets.

• Powys County Council advertises land and building assets that have the 
potential to be transferred. Online expressions of interest forms and a 
business case template is available that encourages a detailed and shared 
understanding of project risks. 

• the Vale of Glamorgan Council has a comprehensive toolkit with guidance 
and templates and signposts applicants to further information and including 
potential financing.

Page 59



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 40

Ceredigion – the responsibility for running the services at Tregaron Leisure 
Centre have been transferred by Ceredigion County Council to a local 
community group. The process was established following work undertaken by 
the Council’s Leisure Reconfiguration Board who identified Tregaron as suitable 
for transfer to the community – a process known as Community Asset Transfer. 
The Council then sought expressions of interest for the delivery of community 
sports activities from the leisure centre. Hamdden Caron Leisure are a group 
of volunteers from Tregaron and the surrounding area and gave an expression 
of interest to run the leisure centre after detailed consultation with users, non-
users, and sports clubs in the area. A 30-year lease has now been signed 
between Ceredigion County Council and Hamdden Caron Leisure. The Leisure 
Centre now operates as a community hub for leisure and sporting activity with 
new sports clubs joining. The Council will continue to operate some services 
from the leisure centre and plans to develop more outreach services and drop in 
sessions in the future.

Supporting self-help in rural communities

Devon County Council is using its data to build community 
resilience in rural areas. Understanding the resilience of a local 
community is important so councils can target help and support 

where needed most, and people in rural communities can help themselves. 
Devon County Council provides an online view of community resilience for each 
Devon community using a range of national and local data, which has been 
mixed with information from the #WeAreDevon Survey 2016, and Community 
Insight Survey 2017. The resulting community resilience score integrates 
various national and local measures to indicate the resilience of communities 
in Devon. This is creating a dialogue between public bodies, and is mobilising 
action to plan for and recover from big events such as extreme weather and 
economic changes. 

Devon Voluntary Action (DeVA) estimates there are 31,255 active volunteers. 
The Council is linking people and volunteers with those organisations who can 
help. The Council efforts are supported by an online independent advice centre 
known as Pinpoint that signposts thousands of services and community groups 
across Devon www.pinpointdevon.co.uk Over 500 community groups are 
registered and people can find a range of help and advice on how to maintain 
independent lives, find work, volunteer, improve personal wellbeing and build 
self-reliance.

Page 60

http://www.pinpointdevon.co.uk/


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 41

Caffi Cletwr, Tre’r Ddôl, Ceredigion - With the support of Ceredigion County 
Council, Caffi Cletwr is developing a community-based approach to provide 
key services and tackle a number of issues facing the rural community in the 
village of Tre’r Ddôl and its surrounding areas. Tre’r Ddôl is a small community 
of roughly 600 residents and over the years has seen its local shop, church and 
primary school close. When faced with the local café also closing in 2009, a 
local community group gained grant funding from Ceredigion County Council, 
the Big Lottery Fund, European Union and businesses such as Santander and 
the Laura Ashely Foundation to purchase the business and develop a new café 
and shop in the heart of the village.

Caffi Cletwr is continuously evolving and the direction of its development is 
entirely dependent on the needs of the local community. It is continuously 
mapping the needs of the community in order to align their provision as closely 
as possible to residents’ wishes. This has led to developing initiatives, which 
tackle issues that are synonymous with those faced by rural communities 
across Wales. 

• Caffi Cletwr is much more than a café. In the wake of other community 
assets closing, this vibrant community centre provides a focal point where 
people can meet or pop in. Events are held and specific discounts on teas 
and coffees are aimed at elderly residents in order to encourage those who 
may otherwise not see or speak to anyone all day long to get out of the 
house. 

• limited face-to-face interaction with public service providers. Ceredigion 
County Council makes use of Caffi Cletwr as a pick-up point for waste and 
recycling bags for citizens and its mobile library visits the café on a monthly 
basis, maximising its role as a community hub. Dyfed Powys Police has also 
made use of Caffi Cletwr by holding drop-in sessions with Police Community 
Support Officers at the café.

• fuel poverty: Caffi Cletwr arranges and facilitates a community syndicate 
for citizens to buy fuel for their oil-heated homes. Whereas citizens may 
otherwise have to purchase fuel in larger quantities from companies on an 
annual basis, by working on a syndicate basis citizens are able to purchase 
in smaller and more affordable quantities three or four times a year via the 
Caffi’s fuel club. Buying ‘in bulk’ has also led to discounts for residents. 

• lack of jobs for local people: Between the café and shop, Caffi Cletwr 
employs eight members of staff as full time equivalent. This includes a 
manager and assistant manager in the shop and three cooks in the café’s 
kitchen. In addition, 50 volunteers are associated with the enterprise and 
regularly undertake jobs that need doing or help with organising community 
events held at the café. 

Page 61



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 42

Appendix 4 – Welsh Government Rural Proofing Tool questions

1 Will your policy affect the availability of other public and private  
services in the rural area?

2 Could you deliver the policy you are proposing to implement  
through existing service outlets? E.g. schools, banks and GP  
surgeries

3 Will there be an extra cost to delivering your policy to rural areas?

4 Will the policy affect travel needs or the ease and cost of travel for rural 
communities?

5 Does the policy rely on communicating information to clients?

6 Will the policy be delivered through the private sector or through a  
public-private partnership?

7 Does the policy rely on infrastructure for delivery that may put rural 
communities at a disadvantage? E.g. Broadband ICT, main roads and 
utilities

8 Will the policy impact on rural businesses particularly the self-employed and 
micro businesses and on the Third Sector including social enterprises and 
local voluntary organisations?

9 Will the policy have a particular impact on land based industries and 
therefore on rural economies and the environment?

10 Will the policy affect those on low wages or in part-time or seasonal 
employment?

11 Will the policy target disadvantaged people living in rural areas?

12 Will the policy rely on local organisations for delivery?

13 Does the policy depend on a new building or development site?

14 Will the policy impact on the quality and character of the natural and  built 
rural landscape?

15 Will the policy impact on people wishing to reach and use  
the countryside as a place for recreation and enjoyment?

An example of a completed assessment is on the Welsh  
Government website.

Page 62

https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/150512rural-proofing-checklist-impact-assessment-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/150512rural-proofing-checklist-impact-assessment-en.pdf


Local Government Services to Rural Communities 43
Page 63



Local Government Services to Rural Communities 44

Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

We welcome telephone calls in  
Welsh and English.

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

Rydym yn croesawu galwadau  
ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru
Page 64



Report of the Convener

Development and Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel 

Annual Review of Work

Purpose: As the municipal year comes to an end it is good 
practice to reflect on the Panel’s work, experience, and 
effectiveness.

Content: A summary of the year’s activities and achievements is 
provided.

Councillors are 
being asked to:

 Reflect on the year’s work; and
 Share ideas to improve the effectiveness of 

Development and Regeneration scrutiny

Lead Councillor: Councillor Jeff Jones
Convener of the Development and Regeneration 
Performance Panel. 

Lead Officer & 
Report Author:

Bethan Hopkins - Scrutiny Officer Tel: 01792 636292
E-mail: Bethan.hopkins@swansea.gov.uk

1. Background

1.1 As this is the final meeting of this municipal year the Panel is invited 
to reflect on the year’s scrutiny work, experience and effectiveness. Any 
ideas that will improve the effectiveness of the scrutiny of the 
Development and Regeneration Panels work are welcome.

1.2 To help panel members a summary of the year’s work is attached.

1.3 Some of the questions the Panel may want to consider:

• What went well? 
• What did not go so well?
• Has the Panel’s work focused on the right things?
• What have we learnt that will help us with future scrutiny?

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



2. Overview

2.1     The Development and Regeneration Scrutiny Panel was established in 
2017 to monitor development which is taking place in Swansea. It is 
intended to take a ‘health check’ of the regeneration projects and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member as appropriate. 

2.2   The Panel has a core membership of 15.

3. Remit of the Panel

3.1 The Panel will be responsible for ongoing monitoring of council 
performance in relation to development and regeneration, including the 
‘health’ of the city centre, wider economic development across Swansea, 
and initial discussion about progress on the Swansea Bay City Deal.

3.2    The Panel can request relevant performance reports and information 
that will help it to assess progress and implementation of agreed 
development and regeneration plans and relevant service improvement 
plans.

3.3     On behalf of the Panel, the convener will write to the relevant Cabinet 
Member raising issues of concern, comments and recommendations for 
response as appropriate following Panel meetings. This will facilitate the 
ongoing performance conversation with cabinet members.

4.       Supporting Data

 Number of Panel meetings = 9
 Number of Conveners letters = 7

5.      Future Work Programme

5.1 The future work programme will continue to monitor the dashboard report and 
receive updates. Much of this will focus on the City Centre regeneration.

5.2  It will also link in with departmental work plans to ensure the Panel are scrutinising 
activity which is timely and relevant. This may include projects across Swansea 
and complimentary work such as transport projects, digital projects and general 
development.

Appended:

 Completed Work Plan 2018-2019
 Panel Update for Scrutiny Programme Committee November 2018

Page 66



Development and Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel
Work Plan 2018/19

Date Agenda

Meeting 1

19th July 2018 1pm
Committee Room 3B

Finance and Budget Update

 Ben Smith - Head of Financial Services & 
Service Centre

Meeting 2

12th September 2018
Committee Room 5

Dashboard Project Update

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Dashboard Project Update

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Meeting 3

7th November 2018
Committee Room 5

Penderyn – An Update

 Paul Relf - Economic Development and 
External Funding Manager

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager


Special

28th November 
Committee Room 5

Pre-Decision Scrutiny – Swansea Central Phase 
1 and FPR7 Report

 Councillor Rob Stewart
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Ben Smith – Head of Financial Services and 

Service Centre

Dashboard Project Update

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Meeting 4

9th January 2019
Committee Room 5

Planning and Student Accommodation

Page 67



 Paul Meller - Strategic Planning and Natural 
Environment Manager

 Ryan Thomas - Development Conservation 
and Design Manager

Special

Budget Meeting
11th February 2019
Guildhall Council 
Chamber

Budget Meeting

 Panel to discuss their thoughts on the 
2018/19 budget relating to Development and 
Regeneration matters.

Dashboard Project Update

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Meeting 5

19th March 2019
Committee Room 5

The Arena (Phase 1)

 Cllr Rob Stewart – Cabinet Member for 
Economy and Strategy

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Dashboard Project Update

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Meeting 6

11th April 2019
Committee Room 3A

Business Case Update

 Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical 
Regeneration Strategic Manager

Page 68



 November 2018

Development and Regeneration Scrutiny Performance Panel Update

1. Remit of the Panel
The overarching remit of the Panel is to be responsible for ongoing 
monitoring of council performance in relation to development and 
regeneration, including the ‘health’ of the city centre, wider economic 
development across Swansea and discussion about progress on the 
Swansea Bay City Deal.

2. Introduction
 The Panel is focused on contributing to the ongoing development and 
regeneration of Swansea by providing a critical friend for the Cabinet, and 
helping to ensure accountability. 

3. Key Activities
The Panel held 3 meetings between May 2018 and November 2018. These 
meetings included a financial update from the Section 151 Officer, two 
dashboard project update sessions and a special item on the Hafod 
Copperworks (Penderyn) project. This has resulted in 2 Convener’s letters 
being sent to the Cabinet Member. The issues covered/to be covered are 
as follows:

4. Achievements / Impact

Letters

The Panel is still relatively new. At the end of the first year of work, the Panel 
wrote a letter to the Leader to reflect on some of the observations they had 
made and then again after the November update. The following are the main 
points which came out of those letters;

1. It is important for the Cabinet and services to engage with Scrutiny to 
ensure there is transparency and sufficient input from Councillors in 
relation to the development and regeneration of Swansea.

2. The Panel do have ongoing concerns around the affordability of the 
City Deal projects, especially as the Council are borrowing upfront to 
fund the development with the City Deal money being allocated over 15 
years in instalments. This places a financial pressure on the Council.

3. The Panel felt that a new performance space in Swansea could 
overshadow The Grand Theatre and take away its ability to host larger 
performers and therefore make money.

4. The Panel is pleased to hear that green infrastructure will form part of 
the developments ensuring green spaces and interconnectivity of 
biodiversity are a priority in line with the relevant legislation.

5. The Panel are still concerned that there seems to be a substantial 
delay in signing off the business case and would have expected this to 
be confirmed by now.

Page 69



5. The ‘Dashboard’ Project Update

As a way of providing that regular ‘health check’ of the development projects, 
the Panel asked for the departmental update report to be made available to 
them at each meeting. This allows a run through from relevant officers of all of 
the regeneration projects and provides a quick risk check of each one, 
highlighting major issues/delays or successes.

This report works well and allows the Panel to ask questions without creating 
a new report for the department to develop.

6. Special Project Update

In order to also provide that in-depth level of scrutiny for the Panel, the 
second part of each meeting focuses on a specific project in Swansea. The 
Panel discussed and decided on the topics for the year which range from 
student accommodation to the Hafod Copperworks. This allows for a more 
intense exploration of a project and strikes the balance between checking 
progress of development and regeneration in general and contributing in a 
more detailed manner on a specific project.

Page 70



Development and Regeneration Work Plan 2019-20

Election of Panel Convener
 Bethan Hopkins – Scrutiny Officer

Terms of Reference
 Panel Convener

Services to Rural Communities – Wales Audit 
Office Report and Action Plan

 Cllr Robert Francis Davies – Cabinet 
Member for Investment, Regeneration 
and Tourism

 Paul Relf – Economic Development and 
External Funding Manager

 Paul Jones – European Unit

Meeting 1

17th July 2019

End of Year Panel Review
 Panel Convener

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Highways and Transportation Update – City 
Centre Work

 Cllr Mark Thomas - Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Infrastructure 
Management

 Stuart Davies – Head of Highways and 
Transportation

Meeting 2
31st July 2019

Work Plan 2019/20

Meeting 3
9th September 2019

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



Xxxx

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Meeting 4
18th November 2019

Digital Village – Designs and Plans
 Cllr Rob Stewart – Cabinet Member for 

Economy and Strategy (Leader)
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Meeting 5
27th January 2020

TRIP – Residential Units above Shops
 Cllr Robert Francis-Davies – Cabinet 

Member for Investment, Regeneration 
and Tourism

 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 
Regeneration

Budget Meeting TBC

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Meeting 6
23rd March 2020

Swansea Vale Development Projects
 Cllr David Hopkins – Cabinet Member 

for Delivery
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration

Dashboard Report
 Phil Holmes – Head of Planning and City 

Regeneration
 Huw Mowbray - Property Development 

Manager

Meeting 6
18th May 2020

xxxx
 

Page 72



To be scheduled

 FPR7 Report regarding City Deal
 Commercial Opportunities in Rural Areas Item
 Disposal of Land Item

Page 73


	Agenda
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Minutes
	Letter to CM for ES 11.4.19

	7 Wales Audit Office Report - Services to Rural Communities
	LG-services-to-rural-communities-report-english
	Councils are not yet finding sustainable ways to help rural communities overcome the challenges they face and need to think and act differently
	Our findings
	Recommendations
	Part 1 – Socio economic change, poor infrastructure and shifts in how key services and facilities are provided has resulted in the residualisation of communities in rural Wales
	Demographic change and challenges in encouraging employment has impacted on the sustainability of communities and services
	Poor infrastructure and changes in how key services and facilities are delivered has adversely affected rural communities
	Citizens generally feel that key council services are not as available, affordable, accessible, adequate and acceptable as they used to be
	Community Asset Transfers have increasingly been used by councils to save money but have not always resulted in sustainable solutions

	Part 2 – Councils and their partners are not always responding effectively to the challenges faced by rural communities
	The role of Public Service Boards is evolving but there are opportunities to articulate a clearer and more ambitious shared vision for rural Wales
	Analysis of data to understand problems and agree appropriate solutions is poor
	Councils are not always tapping into their communities to help them prioritise and deliver services
	Whilst partnership working and collaboration is long established and can be effective, integration of services is limited
	Managing and preventing demand is acknowledged as essential in maintaining services but progress is mixed
	Councils and their partners need to improve their understanding of the impact their decisions have on people from different communities

	Part 3 – To help sustain rural communities, councils and their partners need to think and act differently in the future 
	Appendices
	Appendix 1 – Study Methodology
	Appendix 2 – Defining ‘Rural’ Wales
	Appendix 3 – Good practice case studies
	Appendix 4 – Welsh Government Rural Proofing Tool questions



	8 End of Year Review
	9 Work Plan 2018/19

